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I. SUMMARY OF THE COMMISSION’S STATUTORY AUTHORITY

A. Legislative Background and Membership

The Texas Legislature created the Texas Forensic Science Commission (“Commission’)
during the 79" Legislative Session by passing House Bill 1068 (the “Act”). The Act amended the
Texas Code of Criminal Procedure to add Article 38.01, which describes the composition and
authority of the Commission.! During subsequent Legislative Sessions, the Legislature further
amended the Code of Criminal Procedure to clarify and expand the Commission’s jurisdictional
responsibilities and authority.?

The Commission has nine members appointed by the Governor of Texas.? Seven of the nine
commissioners are scientists or medical doctors and two are attorneys (one prosecutor nominated
by the Texas District and County Attorney’s Association, and one criminal defense attorney
nominated by the Texas Criminal Defense Lawyer’s Association).* The Commission’s Presiding
Officer is Jeffrey Barnard, MD. Dr. Barnard is the director of the Southwestern Institute of
Forensic Science and the Chief Medical Examiner of Dallas County, Texas.

B. Accreditation Jurisdiction

Texas law prohibits forensic analysis from being admitted in criminal cases if the entity
conducting the analysis is not accredited by the Commission:>

“...a forensic analysis of physical evidence under this article and expert testimony relating

to the evidence are not admissible in a criminal action if, at the time of the analysis, the

crime laboratory conducting the analysis was not accredited by the commission under
Article 38.01.7¢

! See Act of May 30, 2005, 79" Leg., R.S., ch. 1224, § 1, 2005.

2 See e.g., Acts 2013, 83" Leg., ch. 782 (S.B.1238), §§ 1 to 4, eff. June 14, 2013; Acts 2015, 84" Leg., ch. 1276
(S.B.1287), §§ 1 to 7, eff. September 1, 2015, (except TEX. CODE CRIM. PROC. art. 38.01 § 4-a(b) which takes effect
January 1, 2019).

3 TEX. CODE CRIM. PROC. at art. 38.01 § 3.

4 Id.

5 Until the 84'h Legislative Session, the accreditation program was under the authority of the Department of Public
Safety (“DPS™).

¢ TEX. CODE CRIM. PROC. art. 38.35 § (a)(4).



The term “forensic analysis” is defined as follows:

“Forensic analysis” means a medical, chemical, toxicologic, ballistic, or other expert
examination or test performed on physical evidence, including DNA evidence, for the
purpose of determining the connection of the evidence to a criminal action, except that the
term does not include the portion of an autopsy conducted by a medical examiner or other
forensic pathologist who is a licensed physician.’

The term “crime laboratory” is broadly defined, as follows:

“Crime laboratory” includes a public or private laboratory or other entity that conducts a
forensic analysis subject to this article.®

The disclosure in this case involves blood alcohol analysis, a forensic discipline subject to

accreditation under Texas law. °

The Texas Department of Safety (“DPS”) regional crime
laboratory in Garland, which is the laboratory that is the subject of this self-disclosure, is accredited
by the ANSI-ASQ National Accreditation Board (“ANAB”) under the International Organization
for Standardization (“ISO”) accreditation standard 17025."
C. Investigative Jurisdiction

Texas law requires the Commission to “investigate, in a timely manner, any allegation of
professional negligence or professional misconduct that would substantially affect the integrity of
the results of a forensic analysis conducted by an accredited laboratory, facility or entity.”!! The
Act also requires the Commission to: (1) implement a reporting system through which accredited
laboratories, facilities or entities may report professional negligence or professional misconduct;

and (2) require all laboratories, facilities or entities that conduct forensic analyses to report

professional negligence or misconduct to the Commission.'?

71d. at38.35 § (a)(4).

81d. at § (d)(1).

% Texas law exempts certain forensic disciplines from the accreditation requirement by statute or administrative rule.
1d at §(a)(4).

10 See http://www.txcourts.gov/fsc/accreditation/ for a list of accredited laboratories.

"' TEX. CODE CRIM. PROC. art. 38.01 § 4(a)(3).

121d. at § 4(a)(1)-(2).




As part of the Commission’s accreditation authority, Texas law provides that the
Commission may:

e Establish minimum standards that relate to the timely production of a forensic
analysis to the agency requesting the analysis....;

e Validate or approve specific forensic methods or methodologies; and

e Establish procedures, policies and practices to improve the quality of forensic
analyses conducted in this State.

The Commission may, at any reasonable time, enter and inspect the premises or audit the
records, reports, procedures, or other quality assurance matters of a crime laboratory that is
accredited or seeking accreditation under this section. '3

D. Limitations on the Commission’s Authority

The Commission’s authority contains important statutory limitations. For example, no
finding by the Commission constitutes a comment upon the guilt or innocence of any individual.'*
The Commission’s written reports are not admissible in civil or criminal actions.'> The
Commission has no authority to subpoena documents or testimony. The information the
Commission receives during the course of any investigation is dependent upon the willingness of
stakeholders to submit relevant documents and respond to questions posed. The information
gathered in this report has not been subjected to the standards for admission of evidence in a
courtroom. For example, no individual testified under oath, was limited by either the Texas or
Federal Rules of Evidence (e.g., against the admission of hearsay) or was subjected to cross-

examination under a judge’s supervision.

13 7d. at § 4-d(b-2).
14 1d. at § 4(g).
5 d at § 11,



II. INVESTIGATIVE PROCESS

When the Commission receives a complaint or self-disclosure, the Complaint and
Disclosure Screening Committee conducts an initial review of the document at a publicly noticed
meeting. (See Policies and Procedures at 3.0). After discussing the complaint or disclosure, the
Committee votes to recommend to the full Commission whether the issues presented in the
complaint or disclosure merit any further action. /d.

In this case, the Commission received a self-disclosure from DPS on May 25, 2017, after
the DPS OIG had already reviewed the matter and issued a report (See Exhibit B). To avoid
duplication, this report does not re-investigate the issues already reviewed by the OIG.
Commissioners agree with the findings in the OIG report. This report is focused on additional
observations and recommendations for quality improvements.

During the course of this review, Commission staff spoke with Assistant Division Director
Brady Mills; Garland Regional Laboratory Manager James Nichols; and DPS Employee
Christopher Youngkin. Staff also consulted with prosecutors from North Texas counties (Dallas,
Tarrant, Collin) whose offices were impacted by DPS disclosures regarding Youngkin’s testimony
as described below. Staff also reviewed the following material:

Transcripts from Youngkin’s testimony (Ellis and Tarrant counties in particular)
DPS OIG report and exhibits

Youngkin’s affidavit for OIG report

Recordings of DPS OIG interviews

Quality action plans associated with original error and with subsequent testimony
Testimony training provided by DPS since incident

Youngkin’s courtroom monitoring forms from 2010-2016



III. SUMMARY OF DISCLOSURE FACTS AND OIG FINDINGS

A. 2013 Switched Blood Alcohol Sample

On May 6, 2013, DPS Garland analyst Christopher Y oungkin began conducting blood
alcohol analysis on cases GAR-1304-05568 and GAR-1304-05569. He was interrupted
during the analysis and did not return to it until two days later on May 8, 2013. On May 16,
2013, Youngkin discovered he had switched the two blood tests and released the incorrect
reports. A few minutes after he discovered the error, he received a telephone call from the
submitting agency questioning the results.

The laboratory completed Quality Action Plan (QAP) #823 on May 20, 2013. The
incident description on the report provided that the “Alcohol Content reports released through
Justice Trax had the wrong results reported.” Youngkin was assigned as the investigator on
this report, and he reported the incident as being isolated. The QAP identified the work
interruption as a root cause but did not conduct any further assessment. Since the time the QAP
was issued, DPS has expanded its approach to root cause analysis to include more extensive
assessments as appropriate for the circumstances.

On May 21, 2013, the blood samples were retested, and the affected agencies and
county attorney offices were notified of the new results. No further action was taken. The
nonconformity was not reported to the Commission because it was a mistake that did not
rise to the level of professional negligence or misconduct as defined in the Commission’s
policies in procedures. At the time, the authority for accreditation of crime laboratories fell
under DPS. The laboratory would not yet have copied the Commission on regular

correspondence with its national accreditation body when the switched sample occurred.



Today, the Commission is copied on all substantive correspondence with the laboratory’s
accrediting body.
Testimony Regarding the 2013 Switched Sample

From September 18, 2013 to October 12, 2016, Youngkin testified many times
regarding the 2013 switched sample and related disclosures by prosecutors in the counties
served by the laboratories. An extensive discussion including transcript examples is provided
in the OIG report at Exhibit B.

On October 12, 2016, a discovery motion regarding the 2013 switched sample was
heard in Collin County. During the hearing, the defense attorney accused Youngkin of not
being forthcoming when asked whether he had ever switched a blood sample. Youngkin
attempted to explain that when he denied having switched a “vial” in response to questioning,
he was distinguishing between switching vials (i.e., headspace vials) and tubes (i.e., grey top
tubes). This was due to the fact that during the 2013 incident, he had switched a grey top
tube, not a headspace vial. The attorney provided numerous examples of prior statements
Youngkin had made under oath using the words “vial” and “tube” interchangeably.!'® At the
end of the exchange, the Judge advised Youngkin to invoke his 5" Amendment right against
self-incrimination. Youngkin heeded the Judge’s advice and stopped his testimony.

On October 24, 2016, representatives from Collin, Dallas, and Denton counties
attended a deposition during which Youngkin withdrew his invocation and continued
testifying regarding the discovery motion from October 12, 2016. An extensive discussion of

the deposition may be found in the OIG Report. On December 22, 2016, Assistant Division

16 The OIG report also provides extensive examples of the terms “tube” and “vial” being used interchangeably in
internal DPS reference materials including the physical evidence handbook and alcohol analysis worksheet.
Youngkin was aware of the documents but maintained they were not sufficiently precise.



Director Mills contacted the OIG to advise that he had attended a meeting earlier in the day
with prosecutors from five of the seven counties in the Garland regional laboratory’s service
area. The meeting was initiated by Bill Wirskye of the Collin County District Attorney’s
office. The purpose of the meeting was to discuss Youngkin's status as an expert witness.
Prosecutors expressed concern about sponsoring Youngkin in future cases given that he had
invoked his 5 Amendment right against self-incrimination and his responses to questioning
regarding the 2013 switched sample were not as forthcoming as they should have been.
B. OIG Findings
The OIG report concluded that Youngkin provided unclear, inconsistent or misleading
statements under oath on multiple occasions. Most examples involved Youngkin claiming he had
never switched blood vials or blood samples, compared with other testimony in which he stated
he had, one time, switch blood vials, samples and/or tubes, thus contradicting prior statements.
OIG investigators concluded that Youngkin was not as forthcoming as he should have been and
thus violated the following DPS policy LOG-03-02 requiring analysts to:
e Testify in a manner which is clear, straightforward, and objective.
e Avoid phrasing testimony in an ambiguous, biased or misleading manner.
The Commission concurs with the OIG findings regarding inconsistencies in Youngkin’s
testimony as well as the conclusion that he was not as forthcoming as he should have been when
addressing the 2013 switched sample. Youngkin is still employed at DPS though he was

transferred to headquarters in Austin and no longer performs forensic analysis in criminal cases.

DPS also updated its alcohol analysis worksheet (LAB-BA-01), BA SOP, and Physical
Evidence handbook for consistent use of the terms “vial” and “tube” (analysis vial and blood tube)

following the OIG report. This was also discussed at a statewide meeting of blood alcohol analysts.



IV. OBSERVATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

To provide a framework for discussing quality system improvements and lessons learned

for DPS from the events described above, the Commission offers the following observations and

recommendations:

1.

As a result of the incident described here, DPS implemented a new “disclosure
form” across the entire laboratory system. (See Exhibit F.) This form was the result
of extensive collaboration with the prosecutors in the five north Texas counties who
were involved in the Youngkin matter (Collin, Dallas, Tarrant, Rockwall, Denton).

DPS should be commended for its work in developing and implementing this form,
as it signifies a major step in implementing the provisions of Article 39.14 of the
Texas Code of Criminal Procedure (Michael Morton Act) with respect to forensic
laboratories.

o Recommendation: The Texas District and County Attorney’s Association
should work with DPS to encourage its members across Texas to adopt the
North Texas focus group work product for forensic disclosures.

o Recommendation: DPS should provide training to analysts statewide on the
purpose of the disclosure form including practical suggestions for how to
respond to questions regarding the disclosure form, in addition to the FAQ
guidance document already distributed to analysts internally. DPS should
consider requesting assistance from practicing defense attorneys and
prosecutors in developing the training.

At the time the original QAP was prepared regarding the 2013 switched sample,
toxicology staff at the DPS lab in Garland received limited training on how to
properly fill out a quality action plan and/or perform a root cause analysis. Current
corrective actions at DPS have evolved and improved.

o Recommendation: Implement regular training for analysts and management
regarding root cause analysis, in particular use of tools like root cause
mapping and the “Five Why’s.” Training should be implemented broadly
across the system.

. At the time the original QAP was prepared, Youngkin was the “investigator” of his

own QAP. In August 2015, the National Commission on Forensic Science issued a
root cause analysis directive suggesting approaches to root cause involving a team-
based approach.!” DPS incorporated a team-based approach in its new quality

17 https://www.justice.gov/archives/ncfs/file/786581/download

10



process released in June 2017. The term “investigator” has been removed from all
QAPs and replaced with “requestor” to indicate the broader approach.

o Recommendation: Review NCFS directive and implement suggestions
where possible.

In April 2017, DPS provided training on testimony at its 2017 Controlled
Substances Statewide Meeting (See Exhibit E). The training is well-designed and
comprehensive but was initially offered only to controlled substances analysts. It
has since been incorporated into the pending 2018 revisions for General Laboratory
Training for new analysts.

o Recommendation: Extend training to all sections in all regional laboratories.

All laboratories utilize moot court as a training tool but it does not always involve
actual practicing attorneys but rather scientists acting as attorneys. DPS has access
to many members of the defense community as well as prosecutors who would be
willing to assist with this. The Commission can provide assistance in connecting
DPS with attorneys as needed.

o Recommendation: Work collaboratively with attorneys in the defense
community and prosecutors to implement moot court training programs that
are closer to real-life scenarios.

DPS distributed the Youngkin transcripts to management throughout the system
but did not provide specific instruction regarding how to facilitate a discussion
about the transcripts. The transcripts can serve as good training tools for analysts
to understand what is expected under DPS policy. The same is true of Youngkin
himself—DPS management did not review the transcripts with him to explain what
specific issues were problematic.

o Recommendation: Consider implementing system-wide facilitated
discussions with analysts regarding the transcripts. Similarly, whenever
there are issues in transcripts, they should be discussed promptly with
analysts who testify (such as Youngkin in this case) so there is clarity
regarding the instances where expectations were not met.

Youngkin’s testimony evaluations throughout his career were all “external” to DPS
(i.e., completed by attorneys) and all were “excellent,” the highest possible rating.
DPS has since required annual internal evaluations.

o Recommendation: Ensure that the testimony evaluations are performed by
individuals not only within DPS but who have subject matter expertise in
the area for which the analyst provides testimony. This will allow technical
issues to be flagged that may otherwise not be flagged by experts whose
practice is in other disciplines. This is both a Commission recommendation

11



and a new ANAB requirement that must be incorporated by January 1,
2019. Accordingly, DPS has developed new testimony forms and related
policies which are scheduled for implementation this fall.

8. Because discovery packets are prepared by non-casework staff in most cases,
analysts are not always aware when discovery is released or what exactly is in the
discovery packets.

o Recommendation: All regional laboratories should ensure their examiners
are alerted when discovery is released and are familiar with the material in
the discovery packet before they testify—this should be a mandatory
component of pre-trial preparation.

12



TEXAS DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY Tracking ID
CRIME LABORATORY

Quality Incident Report QI-GAR-2016-1012-BA

LAB-QA-04-Devialion (03/2017)p.1 Issued by: QAC

Lab Garland Discipline BA Date Discovered 10/12/2016 Page 1 of 2

Date of Incident: 07/15-16/2015 End Date of Incident (if applicable): 10/24/2016

Related Policy, Procedure, and/or Specification:{LOG-03-02

; . |GAR-1211-13135 (Testimony on July 15, 2015 in Tarrant County); GAR-1303-03440 (Testimony on July
Related Work # (case, balch, or instrument#): 16" 504 jn Elis County); GAR-1511-12948 (Testimony on October 12, 20116 in Collin County)

Incident Description:

On October 12, 2016, Mr. Youngkin testified at a hearing in Collin County in which he invoked his 5 Amendment right in response to questions related
to a Quality Action Plan from 2013. On October 24, 2016, Mr. Youngkin withdrew his invocation and testified in a deposition to resume the hearing from
the 12, As a result of the deposition, concerns were raised regarding the consistency of Mr. Youngkin's testimony on the 2013 issue. On October 28,
2016, Mr. Youngkin was removed from conducting casework.

Cause Analysis:
The testimony given by Chris Youngkin violated the following policy:
LOG-03-02 2.1 Testimony Expectations of Witnesses
B. Testify in a manner which is clear, straightforward, and objective;
D. Avoid phrasing testimony in an ambiguous, biased, or misleading manner

There were occasions in which the testimony provided by Chris Youngkin was ambiguous and misleading in his answers to questions from defense
attorneys. The questions posed by the defense attorneys were related to the eventin May 2013 in which two case samples were switched and reported
incorrectly by Chris Youngkin.

A Director's Inquiry was conducted by the DPS Office of the Inspector General. The Office of the Inspector General determined through the Director’s
inquiry that Mr. Youngkin did violate the crime lab service policy (LOG-03-02).

Neither the laboratory's training program nor Mr. Youngkin's technical training and abilities were causal factors in the incident. The violation was related
only to the presentation of his testimony. His individual practice was the causal factor for the policy violation.

Involved Parties (who by direct actions were involved in the quality incident):
Chris Youngkin

Corrections Corrected report issued?: No
Correction(s) to the Original Work (Indicate if not performed at this time):

Chris Youngkin was removed from conducting case work and his job duties have been modified.

As a preventive measure, the policy LOG-03-02 for testimony monitoring requirements were revised to require direct observation by a Quality Manager,
Supervisor, Team Lead, or Quality Assurance Specialist on an annual basis.

In an effort to improve the delivery of testimony, additional courtroom testimony training is being developed for forensic scientists.

Customer Notification (Indicate if not performed at this time or not applicable):
On November 10, 2016, a letter from DPS was delivered to the elected District Attorneys to |nform them of the status of Chris Youngkin and transcripts of

his previous testimony were provided.

Corrective Action Necessary? Yes Significant Disclosure? Yes
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TEXAS DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY

5805 N LAMAR BLVD e BOX 4087 « AUSTIN, TEXAS 78773-0001
512/424-2000
www.dps.texas.gov

STEVEN C. McCRAW COMMISSION
DIRECTOR A. CYNTHIA LEON, CHAIR
DAVID G. BAKER MANNY FLORES
ROBERT J. BODISCH, SR. STEVEN P. MACH
DEPUTY DIRECTORS . RANDY WATSON
March 23, 2017

Christopher Youngkin, Forensic Scientist
Texas Department of Public Safety

Law Enforcement Support - Crime Lab Service
350 W.H 30

Garland, TX 75043

Dear Mr. Youngkin:

This is in reference to the Director’s Inquiry initiated against you regarding counties discontinuing allowing you to
testify as a witness because of inconsistent and contradictory testimony surrounding a quality event that occurred in
2013. :

After review of this inquiry, it has been determined that you will receive a written reprimand. This letter will serve
as your written reprimand and will be assessed by Deputy Assistant Director, Brady Mills.

Additionally, due to the issues surrounding the nature of your testimony over the last three years, your actions have
affected your ability to function as a forensic scientist responsible for forensic casework. Furthermore, your
continued presence in the Garland Lab is untenable for both yourself as well as other Garland Lab employees. As a
result, you will be transferred for the good of the service to the Austin Headquarters Lab. The effective date of the
transfer is to be determined.

Sincerely,

Mike Lesko, Assistant Director
Law Enforcement Support Division

ML/tw

cc:  Brady Mills, Deputy Assistant Director, Crime Lab, LESD
Jack Webster, Regional Commander, Region 1
Norma Cortez, Deputy Assistant Director, Human Resources Management
Rhonda Fleming, Inspector General, Office of Inspector General
Phillip Adkins, General Counsel, Office of General Counsel
01G2016-0402

£}
Received at /i <3 a.m./ p.m. on this the <5 day of /” trch 2017
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TEXAS DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY

TO:
FROM:
DATE:
SUBJECT:

Concerning:

Investigator:

Complainant:

Reason:

INTEROFFICE MEMORANDUM

Skylor Hearn, Assistant Director, Law Enforcement Support Division
Office of Inspector General

December 20, 2016

01G2016-0402

Christopher Youngkin

LESD/Forensic Scientist

Garland/Region 1

Adam Kinslow

ID #09128

IG/OIG Lieutenant
Austin

Chain of Command
Director’s Inquiry concerning circumstances that resulted in multiple

prosecutors in Mr. Youngkins area of responsibility declining to accept
his testimony.

Please be advised that Office of Inspector General file number 01G2016-0402 has been
assigned to this case. This case was assigned on December 15, 2016.

BL:km

cc: Robert Bodisch, Deputy Director, Homeland Security and Services
Jack Webster, Regional Commander, Region 1



Miller, Krisﬂ

From: Lillie, Brian

Sent: Thursday, December 15, 2016 9:30 AM

To: Kinslow, Adam

Cc: Lopez, James; Sanchez, Louis; Fleming, Rhonda; Miller, Kristy

Subject: Assignment of Director Inquiry- Region 1 LESD- Forensic Scientist Christopher Youngkin

(O1G2016-0402)

Adam,

You have been assigned a Director Inquiry on Forensic Scientist Christopher Youngkin, Region 1, Crime Lab, Garland,
concerning circumstances that resulted in multiple prosecutors in his area of responsibility declining to accept his
testimony. All related documents will be provided to you and the approval will be uploaded to 01G2016-0402. The ROl
for this investigation will be due no later than 1/25/17. if additional time is needed, please document the justification in
memorandum form to me prior to the due date including the anticipated completion date. Kristy will send a notification
to the appropriate Assistant Director and Regional Commander advising them of this investigation. Please contact me if
you have any questions.

Thank you,

Brian Lillie, Captain

Texas Department of Public Safety
Office of Inspector General
512-424-5275 Office
512-801-4874 Cell




Miller, Krisg

rom: Miller, Kristy

sent: Monday, November 14, 2016 1:37 PM

To: Lillie, Brian

Subject: . Administrative Investigation Youngkin, Christopher - Director's Inquiry
Brian,

This case was assigned #01G2016-0419.

Thank you,
Kristy

From: Maloy, Sandra

Sent: Monday, November 14, 2016 1:29 PM

To: Miller, Kristy

Subject: FW: Youngkin testimony - Director's Inquiry request

OIG intake for Brian please. This is being assigned to Adam. Please note this is a Director’s Inquiry.

Thank you,
Sandra

rom: Fleming, Rhonda
Sent: Monday, November 14, 2016 7:36 AM
To: Sanchez, Louis; Lopez, James; Lillie, Brian
Cc: Maloy, Sandra
Subject: FW: Youngkin testimony - Director's Inquiry request

Approved for Director’s Inquiry.
I spoke with Duke and got the confirmation verbally and you’ll see below, he approved it to Skylor.

Rhonda Fleming, 1.G.

Office of the Inspector General
W. 512-424-2054

C. 512-923-8687

rhonda.fleming@dps.texas.qgov

®rom: Hearn, Skylor

sent: Monday, November 14, 2016 7:34 AM

To: Fleming, Rhonda

Subject: Re: Youngkin testimony - Director's Inquiry request

1



Did this ever get approved?
“ent remotely

Skylor Hearn, Assistant Director

Texas Department of Public Safety

Chief - Law Enforcement Support Division
512-424-7901

On Nov 7, 2016, at 9:36 AM, Hearn, Skylor <Skylor.Hearn@dps.texas.gov> wrote:
FYI
Sent from my iPad
Begin forwarded message:

From: "Bodisch, Robert" <Robert.Bodisch@dps.texas.gov>
Date: November 4, 2016 at 4:50:42 PM CDT

To: "Hearn, Skylor" <Skylor.Hearn@dps.texas.gov>

Subject: Re: Youngkin testimony - Director's Inquiry request

10-4

Robert J. Bodisch, Sr.

Deputy Director

Homeland Security & Services
Texas Department of Public Safety
512-424-2368 w

512-563-3895 cell

On Nov 4, 2016, at 16:30, Hearn, Skylor <Skylor.Hearn@dps.texas.gov> wrote:

Although four prosecuting offices have requested that Chris Youngkin
no longer provide expert testimony in their jurisdictions, there are other
counties who have made no statement or indicated they will wait to see
how this issue progresses before taking a position. We also have a
responsibility to provide the Texas Forensic Science Commission with a
report of our internal findings on this issue. To help address both of
these areas, | am requesting the OIG conduct a Director’s Inquiry to
assess the veracity and consistency of testimony provided by Youngkin
regarding the 2013 error at issue. This would effectively cover any trial
testimony provided by Youngkin since May 22, 2013, related to the
event. | have conferred with OGC and OIG regarding this avenue and
both are supportive. OGC and LES can provided assistance to OIG as
desired with technical or legal aspects.

SKYLOR D. HEARN, AssiSTANT DIRECTOR
TEXAS DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY

CHIEF - LAW ENFORCEMENT SUPPORT DIVISION
5805 N. LAMAR BLVD

AUSTIN, TX 78752



Hale, Lisa

— e L T L e N A A
‘rom: Maloy, Sandra
Sent: Monday, November 07, 2016 10:42 AM
To: Hale, Lisa
Subject: FW: Youngkin testimony - Director's Inquiry request

01G admin intake for James please. Please note this is a Directors Inquiry.

Thank you,
Sandra

From: Lopez, James

Sent: Monday, November 07, 2016 9:58 AM

To: Fleming, Rhonda; Sanchez, Louis; Lillie, Brian

Cc: Maloy, Sandra

Subject: RE: Youngkin testimony - Director's Inquiry request

Of course Rhonda, | will most likely assign to Patrick Heintz.

From: Fleming, Rhonda

Sent: Monday, November 07, 2016 9:39 AM

To: Sanchez, Louis; Lopez, James; Lillie, Brian

Cc: Maloy, Sandra

“ubject: Fwd: Youngkin testimony - Director's Inquiry request

James, would one of your guys be able to take this?

Rhonda Fleming, I.G.

Office of the Inspector General
W. 512-424-2054

C. 512-923-8687
rhonda.fleming@dps.texas.gov

This e-mail, including any attached files, may contain confidential and privileged information for the sole use of the
intended recipient (or authorized to receive information for the intended recipient), please contact the sender by reply e-

mail and delete all copies of this message.

Begin forwarded message:

From: "Hearn, Skylor" <Skylor.Hearn@dps.texas.gov>

Date: November 7, 2016 at 9:36:52 AM CST

To: "Fleming, Rhonda" <Rhonda.Fleming@dps.texas.gov>
Subject: Fwd: Youngkin testimony - Director's Inquiry request

FYI
Sent from my iPad

Begin forwarded message:



From: "Bodisch, Robert" <Robert.Bodisch@dps.texas.gov>
Date: November 4, 2016 at 4:50:42 PM CDT

To: "Hearn, Skylor" <Skylor.Hearn@dps.texas.gov>

Subject: Re: Youngkin testimony - Director's Inquiry request

10-4

Robert J. Bodisch, Sr.

Deputy Director

Homeland Security & Services
Texas Department of Public Safety
512-424-2368 w

512-563-3895 cell

On Nov 4, 2016, at 16:30, Hearn, Skylor <Skylor.Hearn@dps.texas.gov> wrote:

Although four prosecuting offices have requested that Chris Youngkin
no longer provide expert testimony in their jurisdictions, there are other
counties who have made no statement or indicated they will wait to see
how this issue progresses before taking a position. We also have a
responsibility to provide the Texas Forensic Science Commission with a
report of our internal findings on this issue. To help address both of
these areas, | am requesting the OIG conduct a Director’s Inquiry to
assess the veracity and consistency of testimony provided by Youngkin
regarding the 2013 error at issue. This would effectively cover any trial
testimony provided by Youngkin since May 22, 2013, related to the
event. | have conferred with OGC and OIG regarding this avenue and
both are supportive. OGC and LES can provided assistance to OIG as
desired with technical or legal aspects.

SKYLOR D. HEARN, ASSISTANT DIRECTOR
TEXAS DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY

CHIEF - LAW ENFORCEMENT SUPPORT DIVISION
5805 N. LAMAR BLvD

AusTiN, TX 78752

512.424.7901



NOTE: This original file is being provided for your
review. Please insert all original documents as it is
routed through the chain of command review.

This file must be returned to the Office of Inspector
General once the review and disciplinary action
decision has been completed and if the employee has
not filed an appeal. If the employee has filed for an
appeal the file should be returned back to the Office
of Inspector General once the appeal process has
been completed.

If you should have any questions please contact OIG
at 512-424-5017.



TEXAS DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY

OFFICE OF INSPECTOR GENERAL
REPORT OF INVESTIGATION

NUMBER: 0IG2016-0402

DATE: January 24, 2017

SUBJECT: Director’s Inquiry
Chris Youngkin, Forensic Scientist IV
Garland Crime Laboratory

Law Enforcement Support Division

BY: Adam Kinslow, Lieutenant, Office of Inspector General

BACKGROUND

On November, 29, 2016, Lieutenant Adam Kinslow received instructions 'to conduct Director’s
Inquiry #01G2016-0402 (TAB 1). The inquiry was ordered by Deputy Director Duke Bodisch at
the request of Assistant Director Skylor Hearn.

The inquiry centers on Chris Youngkin, a forensic scientist in the Garland Crime Laboratory. The
Garland lab currently serves seven counties, including Collin, Cooke, Dallas, Denton, Grayson,
Rockwall, and Tarrant. It was reported to DPS that some of the counties, including Dallas,
Denton, Collin, and Rockwall, have discontinued allowing Youngkin to testify as a witness
because of inconsistent and contradictory testimony surrounding an incident that occurred in
2013. The incident involved Youngkin switching two blood tubes during a blood alcohol test
resulting in incorrect results (TAB 13) being reported to Anna Police Department (P.D.) and
Region 1 THP. The error was identified and corrected, and accurate reports were redistributed
(TAB 14). ‘

Following the incident in 2013, Youngkin testified multiple times in court saying he had never
switched blood vials or mixed up anyone’s blood samples as part of a blood test. When
questioned specifically about blood tubes, Youngkin testified that he did switch two blood
“tubes”, one time, temporarily. However, he would not admit he ever switched blood “samples”
or blood “vials” because, in his judgment, they were not the same as blood “tubes”. Defense
attorneys then began dissecting Youngkin’s past testimonies to show that he had, in fact, testified
in separate trials that he switched blood vials and blood samples, thus contradicting his prior
statements under oath.

Essentially, Youngkin was asked on the witness stand if he had ever switched blood vials, blood
tubes, or blood samples that resulted in incorrect blood results. Since Youngkin claimed blood
tubes and blood vials were different objects having different functions, the perception is that he



was trying to avoid having to explain the 2013 incident in court. The concern is whether
Youngkin provided conflicting testimony under oath possibly perjuring himself in the process.

The transcripts describe ‘blood tubes’ as being glass containers found in blood kits used to collect
blood evidence. They’re often referred to as ‘gray top tubes.” ‘Headspace vials’ are also glass
containers, but they are used to test the alcohol concentration of each blood sample after it is
received in the lab. The word ‘vial’ is more of a generic term referring to glass containers.

According to Dictionary.com, the following definitions are given for the words ‘vial’ and ‘test
tube’ (TAB 5):

Vial- Noun. A small container, as of glass, for holding liquids.

Test Tube- Noun. A hollow cylinder of thin glass with one end closed, used in chemical
and biological experimentation and analysis.

Youngkin’s transcripts, in part, are attached to this report and are explained in more detail below.

i DIRECTOR’S INQUIRY

Brady Mills, Deputy Assistant Director, Law Enforcement Support-Crime Laboratory Service

On November 30, 2016, OIG spoke with D.A.D. Mills via telephone regarding the Director’s
Inquiry. Mills stated he was under the impression the District Attorneys’ offices in Dallas and
Collin counties were no longer sponsoring Chris Youngkin as a witness based on his inconsistent
testimony surrounding the 2013 incident. He was unsure about the other counties.

Mills forwarded OIG the transcripts that appear to show Youngkin giving inconsistent testimony
in multiple trials and hearings after the 2013 incident (TABS 6A through 6P). Below is a
timeline explaining Youngkin’s testimony and involvement:

1. May 6, 2013- Youngkin began conducting blood alcohol tests on GAR-1304-05568 and
GAR-1304-05569. Testing was interrupted and had to be completed two days later on
May 8, 2013.

2. May 16, 2013~ Eight days after completing the blood alcohol tests, Youngkin discovered
the error regarding the two blood tests listed above being switched resulting in incorrect
results being disseminated. A few minutes after discovering the error himself, Youngkin
received a phone call from Anna P.D. questioning the results of the blood tests.

3. May 20, 2013- In response to the error, Quality Action Plan (QAP) #823 was completed
explaining what occurred (TAB 15). The incident description on the report stated,
“Alcohol Content reports released through Justice Trax had the wrong results reported.”
(Justice Trax is the information system used by the DPS Crime Labs to track the location
of evidence and to electronically maintain case records.) Youngkin was assigned as the
investigator on this report, and he reported the incident as being isolated with no root
cause.
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4. May 21, 2013- The blood samples were retested, and the affected agencies and county
attorney offices were notified of the new results. No further action was taken on the
matter.

5. September 18, 2013- (TAB 6B, Exhibit #1) County Court at Law #4, Collin County. In
this case, Youngkin referred to a blood tube as a vial.

He was asked about a blood sample and what condition it was in when he received it. He
replied, “The box itself is properly sealed, and the vial itself is also sealed.”

6. October 28, 2013- The Annual Laboratory Management System Survey was completed by
Garland Manager, James Nichols (TAB 18). On page 3 of 4, Nichols referred to
Youngkin’s 2013 incident as a “sample switch” by writing, “QAP #823: Sample switch
resulting in wrong results reported.”

*Note- there is nearly a two year gap between the above entry and the next entry because
no transcripts were obtained in reference to this time period.

7. July 15, 2015- (TAB 6C, Exhibit #2) County Criminal Court #8, Tarrant County.
Youngkin testified and referred to a blood tube as a blood vial. Some examples are below.

Youngkin was asked if he takes a vial of blood and makes notes about it when he first
opens it. He replied, “That’s correct.” When asked how much blood is in each vial when
he first receives it, Youngkin answered, “It’s approximately three-quarters full.”

Youngkin was also asked, “In 10,000 times, how many times have you switched vials?”
He responded, “Never that I'm aware of.” Youngkin was asked this question two times
and responded with the same answer both times. He did not explain or offer clarification
that he had switched blood tubes previously in 2013. ‘

When asked if ethanol levels in a vial can decrease over time, Youngkin replied, “That has
been my experience.” When asked if ethanol levels in blood vials can also rise over time,
Youngkin responded, “Are we still talking about gray top tubes?

When asked if he was holding a vial with powder in it, Youngkin replied, “Yes, Ma’am.”

Youngkin was then asked, “You don’t think you switched vials?” Youngkin replied,
“That’s correct.” He was then asked, “Because you’ve never done it before in 10,000
times?” Youngkin answered, “Not that I’'m aware of.” Again, Youngkin did not offer any
explanation or clarification that he had switched blood tubes previously in 2013.

Youngkin appears to have answered multiple questions and referenced blood tubes and
blood vials as being interchangeable, and he did not explain any differences between
them.

8. July 16, 2015- (TAB 6D, Exhibit #3) County Court at Law #2, Ellis County. Youngkin
testified and referred to a blood tube as a blood vial. Examples are below.
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When asked, “Now does that look as though it’s a vial that was contained... inside the
box? Youngkin replied, “It does.”

When asked, “Now when you received that blood kit, what condition was it in? Was it
sealed?” Youngkin replied, “It was. It indicates here that the box itself was properly
sealed and the vial inside the box was also sealed.”

When asked, “Now based on your report, Mr. Youngkin, what was the alcohol
concentration or blood alcohol concentration of the vial of blood that you received in this
case?” Youngkin answered, “0.163 grams of alcohol per 100 milliliters of blood.”

When being questioned about the tubes of blood received in the blood kits, Youngkin was
asked, “and then you open each box, correct?” Youngkin answered, “I do.” “And then
you take out the blood vial?” Youngkin again answered “I do.”

Youngkin answered a separate question by stating, “Correct, it’s just that we receive vials
of blood that have varying amounts of blood in them and then we test them all and are
able to get results.”

When questioned about the possibility of switching samples while preparing them for
testing or actually getting someone’s blood mistaken, Youngkin replied, “I don’t see how
with his name being on the gray top tube and the laboratory case number being on there.”

Youngkin was asked, “Have you ever swapped a vial?” Youngkin responded, “Swapped a
vial with what?” He was then asked, “Have you ever got the samples switched out of
order?” Youngkin replied, “What particular order are you talking about?” Youngkin
never answered the question.

Youngkin was later asked specifically about headspace vials, “Have you ever gotten those
head space vials out of order?” His response was, “Not that I'm aware of.”

QAP #823 was then introduced in court for the first time.

Youngkin was then asked why he did not answer the question correctly when asked earlier
if he had ever switched a sample or vial. Youngkin answered by stating, “Hopefully, I
gave the precisely truthful answer to whatever it was that you asked.”

When Youngkin was asked if he would consider what he did “sample switching”, he
replied, “I wouldn’t consider it that. They’re just out of numerical order.” He further
explained, “If we’re talking about gray top tubes, I would differentiate gray top tubes and
the other head space vials.”

The 2013 Annual Laboratory Management System Survey was also introduced into court.
It was completed by Garland Crime Lab Manager James Nichols. On page three of this
report, Nichols refers to Youngkin’s incident by using the terminology, “sample switch.”
Youngkin was then asked, “So your lab management, even though you don’t call it a
sample switch, calls what you did in (QAP) number 823 a sample switch?” Youngkin
replied, “Correct.”
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9. June 22, 2016- (TAB 6E, Exhibit #4) County Criminal Court #3, Dallas County.
Regarding the phone call from Anna P.D., Youngkin was asked, “So, samples were
switched, results were reported, given to a police department, and they called and said,
‘Something’s wrong’?” Youngkin replied, “They did, yes, sir.”

Youngkin was then asked, “And according to you, it just so happened that they called just
about... the same time that you just happened to catch the mistake?” He replied, “It was
shortly after, yes, sir.”

10. July 19, 2016- (TAB 6L, Exhibit #12) Brady disclosure from Denton County regarding
Youngkin. Attached to the disclosure is a partial transcript from a trial on January 26,
2016, in which Youngkin admitted to switching blood samples. Youngkin was asked on
the witness stand, “Now, have you ever mixed up samples?” He replied, “Just once.”
Youngkin was then asked, “Ok. Tell us about the time you mixed up samples.” He went
on to describe the incident from 2013. This contradicts Youngkin’s prior testimony from
July 16, 2015 (Exhibit #3), when he stated several times that he did not switch samples
and could not see how samples could be switched since names and case numbers were
listed on the tubes.

11. September 19-20, 2016- (TAB 6F, Exhibit #5) County Court at Law #2, Collin County.
Youngkin testified and referred to a blood tube as a blood vial. Examples are below.

When asked if Youngkin knew how the blood samples were placed in the vials, he stated,
“I do not.” He was asked this question two times and responded with the same answer
both times.

While on the stand reviewing one of the blood tubes that he examined for a particular
case, Youngkin was asked if it was the same vial that he had tested. He responded, “It is.”

When asked if there were two vials in the blood kit, Youngkin replied, “Yes, Ma’am.”

When asked to show the jury one of the vials, Youngkin replied, “Sure.”

Youngkin also referred to a blood tube as a vial when he answered a question regarding
having two unopened blood tubes in the blood kits. He stated, “Just that there would be an
unopened vial- or tube of blood for any subsequent testing.”

12. September 27, 2016- (TAB 6G, Exhibit #6) County Criminal Court #3, Dallas County.
Youngkin testified and referred to a blood tube as a vial. Examples are below.

Youngkin was asked, “Did you receive a vial of blood labeled with the name of
(defendant)?” He replied, “We did.” He was asked, “How did you receive that vial?”
Youngkin answered, “It came to the laboratory in person...”

When asked how much blood was in the vial when it was received in the lab, Youngkin
responded, “I indicated here that it was approximately three-quarters full.”
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Youngkin was also asked by the defense attorney if he was aware that the Denton and
Dallas County District Attorney’s offices had sent out Brady material information
regarding the 2013 incident. Youngkin stated he was not aware.

Youngkin was then asked, “First and foremost, without equivocation, without conjecture,
without hypothesis, you switched vials on a person, correct?” Youngkin replied, “I did.”
This statement contradicts his prior testimony from July 15, 2015 (Exhibit #2), in which
he answered by saying, “Never that I’'m aware of.”

Later in the questioning, Youngkin was asked, “So, since 2013, in over 160 trials, how
many times have you told a defense attorney that you switched vials up in 2013?”
Youngkin replied, “Probably approaching a hundred times now.” He was then asked,
“I’m sorry?” Youngkin replied, “I said we’re probably approaching a hundred times that
I’ve testified about this incident now.”

Youngkin was asked, “And since 2013, you’ve known that you actually at least on one
occasion switched samples, correct?” Youngkin replied, “I have.”

Youngkin was asked, “Listen to my question very carefully. In the over 40 trials that
you’ve had with me since 2013, have you ever disclosed to me that you had switched
samples in May of 2013?” Youngkin replied, “Only when asked about it.”

13. September 27, 2016- (TAB 6H, Exhibit #7) County Court at Law #4, Collin County.
Youngkin was asked if he had ever been sanctioned for “switching samples.” He replied,
“I have not been sanctioned, but it is something that did occur in 2013.”

14. October 3, 2016- (TAB 6I, Exhibit #8) County Court at Law #2, Collin County.
Youngkin was asked if there was ever a situation where he had mixed up vials. Youngkin
replied, “There was a situation in 2013 where two gray top tubes were found to be out of
order.” He was asked, “So how did you end up mixing up those tubes and how did it
affect the tests that were done?” Youngkin replied, “As I answered previously, there was
no cause or reason to determine why they were out of order.”

Youngkin was asked if he had ever switched vials before. He replied, “Not that I’'m aware
of.” This statement contradicts Youngkin’s prior testimony from September 27, 2016
(Exhibit #6), when he advised he had switched vials before.

Youngkin was asked if there was a “big difference” between vials and tubes, and he
replied, “Correct. They’re two different things.”

Youngkin was then asked, “So Ms. Grant asked the wrong question or used the wrong
term; is that correct?” He replied, “I’m not in a position to determine what the right or
wrong questions are. I just answered the questions that were asked.”

Youngkin was asked, “So you will admit to switching things if it’s samples or gray top
tubes, correct?” “Correct.” “But if I use the word “vial,” that’s not going to get me there,
right?” “Correct. I mean, I may ask you what you’re referring to specifically.”

01G2016-0402 : 6



Youngkin was asked how many D.A. offices in his area he had turned Brady material over
to in 2013. He replied, “None, because none asked.” When told they didn’t know to ask
in 2013, he replied, “That’s very possible, yes, sir.” Youngkin was asked, “Because you
didn’t tell anyone about it in 2013, correct?” He replied, “Correct. It was not required.”

When asked further about Brady materials and training received, Youngkin replied, “I
have received training in regards to Brady materials. As to whether it was necessary for
me to turn this over in 2013, I’m not familiar.”

Youngkin was asked, “Well, let me ask you this... You’ve testified that 8,000 samples
you’ve done since 2013... and only 200 people have challenged you in trial... How many
people plead guilty of those 8,000 cases that had no idea that there was Brady material out
there available that you did not turnover?” The Judge then interjected and said, “Stop.
I’m not going to allow that question unless I give him an attorney. He’s required to turn
over things that are Brady. I don’t know that it’s been determined that it is Brady yet. But
if it 1s, and it’s determined that it is, I’'m not going to allow him to answer the question.
He has Fifth Amendment rights just like everyone else.”

15. October 11, 2016- (TAB 6J, Exhibit #9) County Court at Law #2, Collin County. DPS
Forensic Scientist Nirav Kumar was asked in court if tubes and vials meant the same
thing. Kumar responds, “Yes.” He also stated, “The word tube and vial can be used
interchangeably when describing cylindrical objects that contain liquid.” Kumar also
stated it was possible to “mix up” vials and that it had happened before. When asked by
whom, he replied, “Chris Youngkin.” “So you know he mixed up vials, right?”” “He did.”

16. October 12, 2016- (TAB 6K, Exhibit #10) County Court at Law #3, Collin County. This
was a discovery motion hearing to obtain Brady material under Brady vs Maryland
concerning Chris Youngkin and the incident from 2013. The defense attorney advised the
judge that he had received “Chris Youngkin Disclosure” notifications from Dallas and
Denton counties. The attorney stated his office had received parts of what had occurred
but not the complete story. He stated, “And I don’t believe it’s because of any District
Attorney’s office withholding any information. 1 believe it’s 100 percent with Mr.
Youngkin either withholding information, not being 100 percent forthcoming, or his belief
that he had no obligation to turn over information.”

The Collin County Assistant District Attorney (D.A.) rebutted by saying, “The State does
believe that the motion is unnecessary at this time. There’s no evidence with regard to this
specific case that there has been any wrongdoing by Mr. Youngkin on this case.” The
Assistant D.A. also stated, “...all the disclosures have been made in accordance with the

b

law.

After the questioning began, Youngkin was asked, “So you knew from May 16, 2013, that
you had switched gray-top tubes and had given a person a wrong result?” He replied,
“Correct, temporarily.”
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Youngkin was asked, “In 2013, did you switch samples?” He replied, “If gray-top tubes
can be considered samples, then the answer is yes.” “In 2013, did you switch vials?” “I
did not.” “You did not?” “That’s correct.”

Youngkin was asked, “Since 2013, have you ever testified that you switched samples?”
He replied, “I have.” Youngkin was asked, “Since 2013, have you ever testified that you
switched vials?” He answered, “Not that I’'m aware of.” The defense attorney asked,
“Yes or no?” Youngkin replied, “No.” “And that’s under oath, right?” “Yes, you’ve
made that clear.”

Youngkin was asked, “Is a gray-top tube considered the same thing as a vial?” He replied,
“Not to me, it’s not.” “Have you ever testified to a gray-top tube being a vial?” “Not that
I’'m aware of.” “So the answer would be no, right?” “Correct.”

Later in the questioning, Youngkin was asked by the same attorney if he had ever referred
to gray-top tubes as vials, and he responded, “No.” He was asked if he had ever admitted
to switching vials in 2013. He answered, “I have not.” He was asked again if he testified
this year that a gray-top tube was a vial. He responded, “Not that I’'m aware of.” He was
asked, “Yes or no?” Youngkin replied, “No.”

Youngkin was asked, “Mixing up gray-top tubes in 2013, does that mean the same as
mixing vials to you?” “It is not.” “That is your testimony under oath?” “It is.”

Youngkin was asked how many times in the past three years had he testified as a witness
for the State in regard to blood. Youngkin replied, “Probably close to 200 times.”
Youngkin was asked if in those 200 times he had ever referred to gray-top tubes as vials.
Youngkin replied, “No.” This contradicts his testimony from numerous examples listed in
this report. For example, on September 18, 2013 (Exhibit #1), Youngkin was asked about
a blood sample and what condition it was in when he received it. He replied, “The box
itself is properly sealed, and the vial itself is also sealed.”

Youngkin was asked if he had ever admitted to switching vials in 2013. He replied, “I
have not.” When asked if he ever admitted switching samples in 2013, Youngkin replied,
“I have.”

When discussing blood kits received by the lab, Youngkin was asked, “What’s contained
within those blood kits?” He responded, “Gray-top tubes.” “Now, the gray-top tubes,
again, you’ve never referred to those as vials, right?” “That’s correct.”

Youngkin was asked again if he had testified that a gray-top tube is a vial. He first
replied, “Not that I’m aware of,” and then answered, “No.”

Youngkin was then reminded about his testimony from September 27, 2016 (Exhibit #6),
when he was asked, “First and foremost, without equivocation, without conjecture,
without hypothesis, you switched vials on a person, correct?” Youngkin replied, “I did.”

Youngkin was then presented with multiple examples of prior statements he made using
the words vial and blood tube interchangeably, therefore contradicting himself under oath.
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The Judge advised Youngkin he had the right to remain silent and the right to an attorney.
Youngkin replied by saying, “I would, under the advice of the Judge, I would like to
invoke my Fifth Amendment right.”

17. October 24, 2016- (TAB 6A, Deposition, Collin County) Representatives from Collin,
Dallas, and Denton counties were present. The purpose of this hearing was for Youngkin
to withdraw his revocation and continue testifying regarding the discovery motion hearing

from October 12, 2016.

Youngkin was asked, “So you would admit that, under oath, you’ve actually been asked a
question about a gray-top tube and you’ve answered a question when it was referred to as
a vial, correct?” He replied, “I have, yes, sir.”

Youngkin was asked, “Have you ever answered a generic question and actually called the
containers within the DPS blood kit a vial?”” He replied, “Not that I can recall.”

Youngkin was then asked, “Well, let me ask you this. If a defense attorney asked you
what’s contained in a DPS blood kit, under oath, and you said it contained two vials,
would that be a truthful or untruthful statement?” He replied, “It would be truthful in the
sense that the word “vial” is often used in proceedings to refer to gray-top tubes.”

Youngkin was then asked about the timing of the phone call from Anna P.D. and if he
found the error on the same day as he received the call. Youngkin replied, “I did not. I
noticed that the gray-top tubes were out of numerical order on that same day.” “We
generally wait for the reports to be released then replace the gray-top tubes back into the
kits, and that’s when Anna had the results on that report, and that’s why they called me.”

Youngkin was then asked, “Did you switch vials that day?” He replied, “Depending on
what you mean specifically by the word, ‘vial’.” “My question is, under oath, did you
switch vials?” “It depends, again, on what you mean specifically by the word ‘vial’?”

Youngkin was asked, “Did you switch samples in 2013?” He replied, “I did” which
contradicts earlier testimony from July 16, 2015, when Youngkin stated he did not switch
samples (described earlier in Exhibit #3).

Youngkin was then asked a series of questions about the QAP #823 report and him being
assigned as the investigator for the incident. Youngkin appeared defensive in his
answering. He agreed the report showed him as the investigator, but he would not agree
that he was “assigned” as the investigator for that report. He stated he only completed the
report and was doing what he was asked to do. The report lists Youngkin as the
investigator in two places, and Youngkin signed his name on two separate lines showing
he was the investigator, but he refused to acknowledge that he was the investigator.

Youngkin was later asked more questions about blood tubes versus vials. “Isn’t a gray-top
tube the same thing as a vial?” Youngkin answered, “It depends on who you ask. To me,
it’s not...”
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Youngkin was then shown excerpts from the Department’s Physical Evidence Handbook
that reference a blood tube and blood vial as being the same thing. For example, under the
Blood Kit Packaging section (TAB 6M), it reads, “10 mL Blood Collection Vial (gray-top
vacutainer)...” Further down on the page, it reads, “Blood Vial Seal (tamper-evident) for
blood collection vial.” The next page of the handbook also uses the word “vial” four
times referring to the tube inside the kit used to collect blood.

Youngkin was also shown instructions for the collection and submission of blood
specimens located inside the blood collection kit. These instructions reference a blood
tube and blood vial as being the same thing (TAB 6N). Number 2 under the “Officer”
section instructs the officer to complete the submission form and the blood vial seal.
Number 2 under the “Blood Collector” section says to collect a full vial of blood specimen
from the subject in each provided blood vial. The next instruction is to invert the blood
vial several times immediately after being collected. The next section of instructions uses
the word “vial” four times to describe the tube used to collect the blood specimen.

After being shown this paperwork in court, Youngkin was asked, “So Nirav Kumar says a
gray-top tube is a vial. Your DPS handbook calls a gray-top tube a vial. The instructions
given to police officers call a gray-top tube a vial. Is it still your testimony that a gray-top
tube is different than a vial?” Youngkin replied, “It is.”

Youngkin was then shown the Crime Laboratory Alcohol Analysis Worksheet (TAB 60).
This worksheet also describes gray-top tubes as vials.

Later in the questioning, Youngkin was asked several times, “So if you were ever asked if
you ever got the wrong result for the wrong person’s blood, what was the only truthful
statement you could make under oath?” He replied, “Again, it’s going to depend on the
context of the question.” “Well, it’s a.yes or no. Have you ever switched a person’s
blood?” “Well, it depends on how the question is asked.” Youngkin never answered the
question with a yes or no. He did answer by saying, “I have associated the wrong result
with the wrong laboratory case number.” Youngkin was asked again, “Did you not get a
person’s blood mistaken for another person in 2013?” He replied, “It wasn’t mistaken. It
was simply out of order.”

As further discussions came to a close, Youngkin was asked if he had anything else to
share for the record. He replied, “Just that often times parts of the transcript that was read
was- there was no context for it. Certainly moving forward, I intend to be more
forthcoming with this information so we don’t end up in the situation again.”

District Attorney Meeting

On December 22, 2016, D.A.D. Mills contacted OIG to advise he attended a meeting earlier in the
day with five of the seven D.A. offices in the service area. The meeting was initiated by Bill
Wirskye of the Collin County DA’s office. The purpose of the meeting was to discuss
Youngkin’s status on being allowed to continue testifying in the area courts. Mills stated he did
not receive a clear answer from any of the counties represented. Some county representatives
advised Mills that Youngkin was on their “Brady list” and would not sponsor him as a witness.
However, they pulled back and stated they would sponsor him in court if they had to. Mills stated
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the group appeared uncommitted to provide a definitive answer, but the impression was the
counties did not want to sponsor him but would if they needed to. None of the attendees provided
anything in writing to document their stance on the issue.

James Nichols, Crime Laboratory Manager, Garland

On December 21, 2016, OIG interviewed James Nichols at the Garland Crime Lab (TAB 12D).
Nichols is currently the Crime Lab Manager in Garland and has held that position since 2013.
Nichols has worked with Youngkin in multiple capacities since 1998.

Nichols stated Youngkin is a very hard worker who focuses on completing his cases. However,
he appears very “aloof” and detached from the rest of the section and does not interact with his
coworkers unless necessary. Nichols stated there has never been a question concerning
Youngkin’s credibility prior to the events leading up to this investigation.

Nichols stated the topic of tubes vs vials has never been an issue before with any of his
employees. Nichols wrote in his sworn affidavit, “The terms ‘vials’ and ‘tubes’ are
interchangeable by lab and Department personnel. I would expect any person to interchange
these terms when testifying to blood alcohol. Chris did not always follow the expectation stated
in the Lab Operations Guide to avoid phrasing testimony in an ambiguous, biased, or misleading
manner. [ believe he did most of the time, but his testimony in Ellis and Dallas counties was
ambiguous and misleading.”

Nichols was asked about Youngkin being assigned as the investigator for QAP #823. Nichols
stated it is common practice for an individual who is involved in an incident to be assigned as the
investigator. The individual involved would be in the best situation to describe what happened
and participate in the root cause analysis. Nichols stated the quality assurance process is non-
disciplinary, and it is dependent upon employees being open and straightforward with any errors
they detect in the process.

Nichols explained that all new employees must attend General Lab Training (GLT) that includes
modules for “Ethics and Professionalism” and “Overview of Legal Processes and Testimony.”
The training is taught by a supervisor for the section or an assigned trainer from a list of trainers.
At the completion of the GLT training, court testimony training is conducted and focuses on each
discipline’s specific area: blood alcohol, drug, DNA, etc. This portion of the training includes
observing and participating in a mock trial alongside senior scientists.

Nichols explained that all lab employees must attend annual training to review American Society
of Crime Lab Directors (ASCLD) guidelines that include Professionalism, Competency and
Proficiency, and Clear Communication. The topic of clear communication refers specifically to
the reports that are generated and how the scientists should conduct themselves when testifying.

- Nichols was asked about the 2013 Annual Laboratory Management System Survey report.
Nichols completed the report, and on page three he described the incident by using the term
“sample switch.” Nichols stated he used the proper terminology in the report, and a sample
switch did occur.

At the conclusion of the meeting, Nichols was asked if he believed Youngkin had accepted any
responsibility for his actions. Nichols answered that question in his affidavit by writing, “At
times he has expressed that he didn’t communicate as he should have, but he has continued to go
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back to his initial response that according to him he was answering the specific question posed to
him by the attorneys. I believe he placed significance on the difference between the terms for
tubes and vials that was not previously present.”

Nichols supplied a written affidavit to OIG on January 4, 2016 (TAB 10).
Chris Youngkin, Forensic Scientist IV, Garland

On December 22, 2016, OIG met with Youngkin and served him with a written notice of
investigation (TAB 2).

Andrew Macey, Drug Section Supervisor, Garland

On January 6, 2017, OIG spoke with Andrew Macey via telephone regarding the 2013 incident
(TAB 12C). Macey is currently a section supervisor, but at the time of the incident he was a co-
worker of Youngkin assigned to conduct blood alcohol tests. Macey stated Youngkin approached
him after the incident and told him he had switched two blood samples during testing. Youngkin
noticed the numbers on the tubes were out of order as he was returning them to the test kits.
Youngkin advised Macey that he also received a phone call from Anna P.D. asking about the
results. Youngkin did not know how the error occurred, but he knew the samples needed to be
retested. The samples were eventually retested by Macey, and new reports were distributed.

Macey supplied a written affidavit to OIG on January 9, 2016 (TAB 9).

Jeff Caponera, Lieutenant, Anna Police Department

On January 6, 2017, OIG spoke with Lieutenant Caponera via telephone regarding the incident
(TAB 12A). Anna Police Department submitted one of the two blood samples that were switched
by Youngkin. Caponera stated he placed a call to the Garland Crime Lab after realizing the test
results were incorrect. Caponera stated he could not recall exactly who he spoke with in the lab,
but he believes it was Youngkin. Youngkin told Caponera he would review the results, and if an
error did occur, the samples would be retested. Caponera’s perception was that this was new
information for Youngkin and he was not aware the blood samples were switched. Caponera
stated he received a follow up call later that afternoon or possibly the next day from the lab
confirming the results were incorrect, and they would be retested. Caponera could not recall who
he spoke with on the follow up call.

Caponera supplied a written affidavit to OIG on January 11, 2016 (TAB 7).

Chris Youngkin, Forensic Scientist IV, Garland

On January 11, 2017, OIG interviewed Chris Youngkin at the DPS office in Waco (TAB 12E).
He was read the Garrity Warning (TAB 3) and was provided a copy. Youngkin reports to Drug
Section Supervisor Kenneth Evans, who reports to Lab Manager James Nichols. Youngkin
started working for the Department in 1996. He began testing blood alcohol concentration in
1998, has conducted over 15,000 blood tests and has testified in over 500 trials.

The interview began by reviewing a timeline of events surrounding the incident. Youngkin
concurred with the dates and times of the events.
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Youngkin was first asked if he had ever provided inconsistent or conflicting testimony regarding
blood tubes, vials, or samples being switched. He responded by saying, “No, not that ’'m aware
of.”

Youngkin was asked if the following equation was correct: a gray top tube (A) can be called a
vial (B), and a vial (B) can be called a headspace vial (C), but a gray top tube (A) can never be
called a headspace vial (C). Essentially, A=B, and B=C, but A # C. Youngkin stated that was a
correct statement. He also provided several documents showing there are differences between
blood tubes and headspace vials (TAB 24). Youngkin stated each has a specific function when it
relates to testing blood, and he wanted to make sure that point was made.

Youngkin was given copies of multiple Department documents and training materials to review.
Each of the forms provided show the words blood tube and blood vial being used
interchangeably. These documents were previously discussed on page 10 of this report and
include:

1. Physical Evidence Handbook- Blood Kit Packaging
2. Physical Evidence Handbook- Blood Collection Kit
3. Physical Evidence Handbook- Instructions for the Collection and Submission of Blood

Specimens
4. Alcohol Analysis Worksheet

Youngkin agreed the above documents existed, but he did not believe they were accurate when
describing blood tubes as blood vials. In fact, Youngkin stated because of the 2013 incident,
many of these forms are in the process of being updated and will remove the word vial when used
to reference a blood tube. Youngkin stated the LAB 12-b form has already been updated to show
blood tube instead of blood vial. After checking the DPSNet, this was found to be true (TAB 21).
Youngkin agreed the above forms were current in 2013, and he was surprised to learn the
Department had been using the word vial when actually referencing a blood tube.

Youngkin was also provided a copy of the 2013 Annual Laboratory Management System Survey.
The form was completed by his chain of command and contained the words “sample switch” to
describe the incident. Youngkin was not aware these words were being used until he was shown
the form in court in July of 2015.

Youngkin was asked about co-worker Nirav Kumar’s testimony from October of 2016. Kumar
stated under oath that blood tubes and blood vials meant the same thing, and both terms can be
used interchangeably. Youngkin stated Kumar’s words were taken out of context, and he was not
able to answer for or explain Kumar’s responses.

Youngkin did point out that the defense attorney asked Kumar a question about a blood vial, and
Kumar answered by using the word blood tube. For instance, the attorney asked, “For the DPS
blood kit,-how many vials of blood are there?” Kumar replied,; “For the DPS Kkit, there would
need to be two. Both blood tubes would need to be filled up.” Kumar answered positively to the
question, but he used the word blood tube in his response. Youngkin stated he answers questions
similarly to Kumar.

Youngkin was asked if he ever corrects the question when he is asked about blood vials but is
actually referencing blood tubes. He stated he does not correct the questioner when the topic at
hand has already been established, and everyone knows what is being discussed. He stated
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attorneys purposely ask questions using incorrect terminology, and any corrections would need to
be made frequently which would “look bad.” Youngkin stated he often knows what is being
discussed based on the context of conversation and what physical evidence has been presented in
court, but he always asks for clarification when unsure.

Youngkin was asked about his prior testimony regarding sample switching. On July 16, 2015
(Exhibit #3, page 85), he stated he HAD NOT switched samples in the past and could not
understand how that error could ever occur, and on July 19, 2016 (Exhibit #12, page 4) and
October 24, 2016 during the Collin County deposition, he stated he HAD switched samples in the
past. Youngkin explained the conflicting statements by saying he was not aware during his 2015
testimony that his supervisor had considered the error to be a sample switch as was described in
the 2013 Annual Laboratory Management System Survey report. After becoming aware of this
report, Youngkin began using the same vocabulary during testimony and agreed that a ‘sample
switch’ had occurred.

Youngkin also stated that the word ‘switch’ has different meanings to different people, and his
definition included something done on purpose. Since the tubes were not purposely placed out of
order, he did not consider them to have been switched.

Youngkin was then asked to explain further statements he made that appear to be conflicting. For
instance, on July 15, 2015 (Exhibit #2, page 22) and on October 2, 2016 (Exhibit #8, page 16),
Youngkin was asked how many times he had ever switched vials, and had he ever switched vials
before. His response to these questions were, “Never that I’'m aware of” and “Not that ’'m aware
of.” This contradicts a statement made on September 27, 2016 (Exhibit #6, page 52) when he was
asked, “First and foremost, without equivocation, without conjecture, without hypothesis, you
switched vials on a person, correct?” Youngkin replied, “I did.” Youngkin explained the
inconsistency by saying the questions in the first two examples were not clear, and he was
assuming they were asking about headspace vials. That’s why he answered, “Never that I’'m
aware of.” The question in the last example provided more information, “vials on a person,”
which led Youngkin to believe he was being asked about specific evidence which would have
been referring to blood tubes. Therefore, he answered, “I did.”

Youngkin wanted to point out that all the transcripts are from excerpts from testimony and are not
the complete testimony, so it is difficult to fully know what is being described.

At this point in the interview, Youngkin stated, “I haven’t tried to mislead anyone, or be
dishonest, or hide anything. I’m just answering the questions as I understand them. I carry these
two things with me (blood tube and blood vial). It’s easy to see they’re clearly two different
things. They serve different purposes.”

Youngkin was then asked about other excerpts of testimony that appear to be misleading or
inconsistent. On September 18, 2013 (Exhibit #1, page 7), Youngkin was asked, “And in what
condition was the blood in when you received it?” He replied, “The box itself is properly sealed, -
and the vial itself is also sealed. The condition of the blood was normal, and the gray top tube
was approximately three quarters full.” He was later asked, “And did you analyze the contents of
the vial to determine the alcohol content?” He replied, “I did.”

In contrast, on October 12, 2016 (Exhibit #10, page 10), Youngkin was asked, “Is a gray top tube
considered the same thing as a vial?” He replied, “Not to me, it’s not.” Have you ever testified to
a gray-top tube being a vial?” ‘“Not that I'm aware of.” “So the answer would be no, right?”
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“Correct.” Youngkin’s statements from the two above examples do not agree with one another.
When asked to clarify, Youngkin explained in the 2013 example he was reading straight from an
alcohol analysis worksheet in which it referred to the blood tube as a vial, so he also referred to it
as a vial.

Youngkin was asked a similar question on July 15, 2015 (Exhibit # 2, page 38), “You don’t think
you switched vials?” He replied, “That’s correct.” Youngkin explained the attorney was
referring to headspace vials and not blood tubes.

Youngkin was asked if it ever occurred to him the need to clarify his responses and advise the
court that he may not have switched headspace vials before, but he has switched blood tubes
before. He replied, “It did not. To me, in my opinion, it was an isolated event, as the Quality
Action Plan indicates. It only affected those two cases. They were corrected. Preventative action
that was put into place is sufficient to prevent it from ever happening again. In addition to that, I
had never encountered those circumstances where I found tubes out of order since then. So, no, it
never occurred to me.”

Youngkin added that his duty in court was to answer questions asked of him and not provide
additional information. He’s had defense attorneys in the past object to his testimony for being
“unresponsive” when he attempted to add information to a question that only required a yes or no
answer. Over time, Youngkin stated he has learned it is best to just answer the questions asked of
him.

Youngkin stated that over time he has come to know the core group of defense attorneys and can
anticipate the questions being asked. This has created a comfort level or familiarization between
Youngkin and the attorneys. Because of the familiarization, Youngkin stated he may have
answered questions regarding a blood tube and not even noticed the attorneys were actually using
the word blood vial. He also stated he may have answered questions based on prior context and
did not look at each question individually as he should have. He stated, “Perhaps that’s what’s in

play.”

Youngkin was asked if his answers ever changed based on his knowledge of the defense attorneys
having a copy of the Quality Action Plan #823 that references the blood tube error. He replied, “I
think it did towards the end.” Youngkin stated his answers may also change based on what has
already been discussed under direct examination, and it is difficult to know what has already been
discussed because the transcripts are only excerpts.

Youngkin was asked why he invoked his Fifth Amendment right and decided to stop testifying
during the hearing on October 12, 2016. He replied, “Because that’s what the judge had
encouraged me to do. I wasn’t sure of what I was being accused of or what I was at risk of,
incriminating myself of, so that was just a bizarre moment.” Youngkin stated he immediately
contacted his chain of command after the hearing.

Youngkin stated he decided to return to court on October 24, 2016, to continue testifying after
receiving advice from the Attorney General’s office.

Laboratory Operations Guide (LOG)
Youngkin was provided a copy of the Court Testimony Monitoring section of LOG-03-02 that
discusses testimony expectations of witnesses (TAB 22). It states:
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2.1 (B.) Testify in a manner which is clear, straightforward, and objective;
2.1 (D.) Avoid phrasing testimony in an ambiguous, biased, or misleading manner.

Youngkin stated he followed the two objectives above, and he believes the testimony he provided
was clear. However, he stated the defense attorneys frequently asked him questions that were not
clear.

Youngkin was asked if he believes he was being straightforward with his answers. He replied, “I
do.” Youngkin was then asked if any of his answers could have been considered misleading. He
replied, “I don’t think so, but I’'m also much more familiar with the material than any juror would
be. Ithink being misleading is another common tactic of defense attorneys.”

Youngkin was asked about Exhibit #4, page 12, regarding not being asked the right questions in
court. Youngkin stated that unless he is asked the correct questions in court, he may not have the
window of opportunity to provide the full and correct answer. Youngkin stated again that his job
is only to answer the questions asked and not to provide additional information. He stated that
whatever the question is, he will answer it truthfully.

Quality Action Plan #823 (QAP) »

Youngkin was asked why he was assigned as the investigator for this incident. He stated he was
asked to complete the form by his chain of command after he advised them of what had occurred.
He understands why he was assigned as the investigator since he had the most knowledge of the
incident. Youngkin stated the form was more of a record of occurrence than an actual
investigation. That is why he was so hesitant to use the term “investigator” in court. In addition,
Youngkin stated the word “investigator” has been removed from the most recent version of the
QAP form (TAB 16).

Youngkin was asked about the Quality Action Plan process instructions page (TAB 17). It reads,
“This process is designed to encourage participation, open communication, and un-biased
assessments of quality incidents for the purpose of transparency and process improvement.”
Youngkin stated he was unbiased in his report, but the potential does exist for the form to be
completed in a biased manner based on who is assigned to complete the form. However, he has
never seen or heard of any biased reports being completed.

Youngkin was asked how he found out about the 2013 blood tube error. He stated he noticed the
tubes out of order on May 16, 2013, while placing the tubes back into the blood kits. This process
is commonly done soon after the test results are sent out via email to the originating agencies. A
few minutes after noticing the error himself, he received a phone call from Anna PD regarding the
blood tests. Youngkin stated he spoke with Officer Caponera who called and questioned the test
results. Youngkin could not recall what he said or how he replied to Caponera’s concerns. He
did state he would not have provided Caponera with any confirmation until after he spoke with
his chain of command and retested the samples. After Caponera’s phone call, Youngkin notified
the section supervisor, Kenneth Evans.

Youngkin was then asked if he felt responsible for any part of his current situation. He stated he
is responsible for the incident as described in QAP #823. He stated he is also the person who
answered all the questions in court, so if he did not answer them appropriately, then that would
also be his fault. Youngkin was then asked if he believed he answered any questions
inappropriately, and he replied, “I do not. I believe the answers were always truthful. It would
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appear that I did a poor job of listening to the specific question sometimes, even though in
context, I believe I answered truthfully.”

Although he has always used the term ‘tube,” Youngkin stated he has come to learn it is common
practice for police officers, nurses, attorneys and several others in the process to use the term
‘vial.” Youngkin called this an “unfortunate circumstance” because the two items are separate
and have two separate functions. This can create confusion in the courtroom, so Youngkin
chooses to bring an actual blood tube and a blood vial to court with him when he testifies to
eliminate any possible confusion. He stated he just views it from a “different perspective” than
everyone else in the process.

When asked if he would do anything different if given the opportunity, he answered by saying he
would have provided “longer answers” to some of the questions asked of him. The transcripts
give the appearance that the attorneys had to “pull information out of him,” but Youngkin viewed
this only as him answering the questions asked of him.

Youngkin would have also changed the way he answered questions in July of 2016 (Exhibit #3)
regarding the switching of vials. He would have taken the opportunity to discuss the issue more
completely than he did. Youngkin stated the questions were answered truthfully, but he would
have attempted to offer more clarification in the matter.

Youngkin was asked again if he ever gave inconsistent or conflicting testimony regarding blood
tubes, vials, or samples being switched. He replied, “I don’t think so.”

Youngkin submitted a written affidavit to OIG on January 27, 2017. (Tab 11)

Nirav Kumar, Forensic Scientist II, Garland

On January 13, 2017, OIG spoke with Nirav Kumar via telephone (TAB 12B). Kumar is a
colleague of Youngkin in the Garland Crime Lab. Kumar was asked for his current view on the
subject of blood vials and blood tubes. Kumar stated he currently uses the word vial and tube
interchangeably, and it’s common for his colleagues and the chain of command to also use the
words interchangeably.

Kumar stated the Department is in the process of removing the word ‘vial’ from the Physical
Evidence Handbook and other Department documents and will replace it with the word ‘tube’
when referring to the gray-top blood tube used to collect blood specimens. Kumar stated he has
been given verbal direction from the chain of command to be clear on the subject of blood tubes
and blood vials when testifying in court.

Kumar supplied a written affidavit to OIG on January 17, 2017 (TAB 8).

James Nichols, Crime Laboratory Manager, Garland

On January 18, 2017, Nichols called OIG and advised the Crime Lab is in the process of replacing
the word ‘blood vial® with ‘blood tube’ in several lab documents including the Physical Evidence
Handbook. This decision was based on the events surrounding the 2013 incident. Nichols stated
the current usage of the word ‘blood vial’ is not incorrect, but the change would provide
consistency throughout the Crime Laboratory system.
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Alice Amilhat, Assistant L.ab Director, Technical Services, Austin

On January 19, 2017, Amilhat provided OIG with more explanation surrounding the changes
being made in replacing the word ‘vial” with ‘tube’ in DPS crime lab documents. Amilhat stated
a Blood Alcohol and Toxicology statewide meeting was held on October 26-27, 2016. During
this meeting, proposed changes to the crime lab documents were communicated because of the
2013 incident and the terminology issues surrounding the incident. Amilhat stated the changes in
terminology would support the culture of continued process improvement within the Lab Service.
As a result, the below changes have been made or are scheduled to be made.

- Physical Evidence Handbook- scheduled to be implemented in April 2017

- Instructions for the Collection and Submission of Blood Specimens (LAB-12b) - effective
in December 2016

- The Blood Alcohol Standard Operating Procedures (SOP) were updated in November of
2016 and can be found at this link:
https://txdpslabs.qualtraxcloud.com/ShowDocument.aspx?2ID=4209

Amilhat’s email correspondence and forwarded documents are attached (TAB 23).

| EVALUATION

This Director’s Inquiry was initiated based on allegations that Forensic Scientist Chris Youngkin
possibly provided conflicting or inconsistent testimony under oath regarding the incident from
2013.

The relevant issues identified throughout the course of this investigation include:

-Chris Youngkin testimony

~Quality Action Plan process

-Brady vs Maryland

-The use of “vial’ and ‘tube’ in DPS manuals and documents
-Testimony expectations of witnesses

Chris Youngkin Testimony

This report provides multiple examples of Youngkin providing unclear, inconsistent, or
misleading statements under oath. The bulk of examples involve Youngkin claiming he never
switched blood vials or blood samples, compared with other testimony in which Youngkin stated
he had, one time, switched blood vials, samples, and/or tubes, thus contradicting his prior
statements.

In response, Youngkin stated he was only answering the exact questions he was asked, and he
never tried to conceal or hide any information. Youngkin offered few explanations for his actions
and never fully explained the inconsistencies.

Youngkin wanted to add that he rarely sees transcripts or has the opportunity to review prior
testimony, but he always tries to be clear in his testimony and not mislead anyone.
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Youngkin had several opportunities to clarify and fully explain what occurred in 2013. He may
have never switched headspace vials, but he did switch blood tubes on one occasion. Youngkin
failed to bring up this point in court until after the release of the Quality Action Plan #823 report.
When asked if his answers changed based on the knowledge of the defense attorneys having
copies of the QAP report, Youngkin stated, “I think it did towards the end...”

Based on the appearance that Youngkin was providing inconsistent testimony under oath on
October 12, 2016, the court provided Youngkin with the option of invoking his 5™ Amendment
Right and stopping his testimony. Youngkin stopped answering questions which created the
strong appearance he was not being forthright in his testimony.

Quality Action Plan Process

Laboratory Operations Guide LOG-03-12 explains the scope and process for completing a quality
action plan report. The below statement is included:

This process is designed to encourage participation, open communication, and unbiased
assessments of quality incidents for the purpose of transparency and process improvement.

The QAP #823 report shows Youngkin as the investigator of his own incident. Youngkin still
does not agree with the term ‘investigator,” but he did sign his name as the investigator in two
different locations on the form. He does not believe he investigated anything but rather was asked
to fill out the report acknowledging what had occurred. After speaking with the chain of
command, it appears it is common practice to assign the person involved as the investigator since
he or she would have the most information regarding the incident. The possibility of biased
reporting was not a concern to Youngkin or his chain of command in this matter.

There is no evidence to prove that Youngkin was aware or not aware of the blood tube error prior
to receiving the phone call from Anna Police Department. Youngkin stated he was already aware
prior to the phone call, and Nichols and Macey confirmed this is very possible based on how the
blood test notification process works.

Brady vs Maryland

Defense attorneys attempted holding Youngkin responsible for not providing them the QAP #823
report as Brady material. Youngkin believed it was not required, and he stated it was not his
direct responsibility to make sure the defense attorneys had that information. The Collin County
Assistant District Attorney, on October 12, 2016, stated all the disclosures were made in
accordance to law, and no wrongdoing was. done by Youngkin in that specific case. The crime
lab appears to have followed law and policy by notifying the local D.A. offices of the 2013
incident when requested or required (TAB 6L and TAB 19).

The Use of ‘Vial’ and ‘Tube’ in DPS Manuals and Documents

Current challenges in terminology and proposed changes to the crime lab documents and policies
were communicated to the chain of command in October of 2016. The chain of command was
responsive. As a result, positive changes are being made to address the issues of consistency
which may help prevent a similar issue from occurring in the future. Nonetheless, Department
documents from 2013 show the words ‘tube’ and ‘vial’ being used interchangeably as if to show
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they mean the same thing. Lab personnel who were interviewed stated the two terms are still
used interchangeably today.

Testimony Expectations of Witnesses

LOG-03-02 provides testimony expectations of witnesses. Under the Practices section, it reads:

2.1 (B) - Testify in a manner which is clear, straightforward, and objective
2.1 (D) - Avoid phrasing testimony in an ambiguous, biased, or misleading manner

On October 24, 2016, towards the end of the hearing, Youngkin was asked if he had anything
further to share for the record. He replied, “Certainly moving forward, I intend to be more
forthcoming with this information so we don’t end up in the situation again.”

Youngkin is a tenured member of this agency with twenty years of service and experience.
According to his chain of command, he has a reserved personality, but he is intelligent and is
meticulous in his work. The 2013 incident involving the tubes being placed out of order is the
only job performance error documented in his twenty year career. This is a commendable
achievement.

However, it was found that Youngkin was not as forthcoming with his testimony surrounding the
2013 event as he should have been according to Department policy. As a result of this
investigation, sufficient evidence exists to justify the filing of a formal complaint against
Youngkin for providing ambiguous, biased, or misleading statements under oath.

Respectfully submitted,

o Ham fiz

Adam Kinslow, Lieutenant
Office of Inspector General I CONCUR

Raai

RHONDA FLEMING
INSPECTOR GENERAL

Q4= 17
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‘rom: Lillie, Brian

Sent: Thursday, December 15, 2016 9:30 AM

To: Kinslow, Adam

Cc: Lopez, James; Sanchez, l.ouis; Fleming, Rhonda; Miller, Kristy

Subject: Assignment of Director Inquiry- Region 1 LESD- Forensic Scientist Christopher Youngkin

(01G2016-0402)

Adam,

You have been assigned a Director Inquiry on Forensic Scientist Christopher Youngkin, Region 1, Crime Lab, Garland,
concerning circumstances that resulted in multiple prosecutors in his area of responsibility declining to accept his
testimony. All related documents will be provided to you and the approval will be uploaded to 01G2016-0402. The ROI
for this investigation will be due no later than 1/25/17. If additional time is needed, please document the justification in
memorandum form to me prior to the due date including the anticipated completion date. Kristy will send a notification
to the appropriate Assistant Director and Regional Commander advising them of this investigation. Please contact me if
you have any questions.

Thank you,

Brian Lillie, Captain

Texas Department of Public Safety

Office of Inspector General
'12-424-5275 Office

512-801-4874 Cell







TEXAS DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY

OFFICE OF INSPECTOR GENERAL

SUMMIT EXECUTIVE CENTER
13706 RESEARCH BLVD., STE. 100
AUSTIN, TEXAS 78750-1838

COMMISSION
RHONDA FLEMING A. CYNTHIA LEON, CHAIR
INSPECTOR GENERAL (51 2) 424-501 7 MANNY FLORES
STEVEN P. MACH
www.dps.texas.gov RANDY WATSON

December 20, 2016
Re: Notice of Director’s Inquiry and Related Investigation OIG2016-0402.

This letter is to inform you that a Director’s Inquiry has been ordered by Deputy Director Duke
Bodisch and will be conducted by this Office. The Office of Inspector General is committed to
conducting Director Inquiries in a fair, judicious, and thorough manner. Pursuant to General
Manual, Chapter 07.42.16, the Director’s Inquiry is intended to provide factual information on
performance issues for decision making by management. '

In May 2013, Forensic Scientist Chris Youngkin reported incorrect results on two blood alcohol
cases. The error was corrected, and revised reports were issued to the affected agencies. In
October 2016, Youngkin is alleged to have given inconsistent testimony regarding the incident
which resulted in multiple prosecutors in his area of responsibility no longer accepting his
testimony.

The Department serves you notice and intends to conduct the Director’s Inquiry. You are
advised to refrain from contacting witnesses in any way, which might be interpreted as an
attempt to discourage the witness from cooperating with the Department during the inquiry.

Unless the Office of Inspector General instructs you otherwise, you may only discuss issues
related to the inquiry with the investigator or the Inspector General.

You are further reminded any employee who is subject to an investigation or inquiry conducted
by the Office of Inspector General shall cooperate fully and answer all questions posed to them
by the Department investigator during such investigation or inquiry.

Respectfully,
Captain Brian Lillie
TXDPS Office of Inspector General

Received at £ /0 am /C@’ on /Z/ Z///é
by Cbrs Vounakiy s QW

(Printed Name) - (/' (Sighature)







GARRITY WARNING

At this time, I, Adam Kinslow , Texas Department of Public Safety
(Department), am going to ask you questions about OIG2016-0402. I am not
questioning you for the purpose of any criminal investigation, but only for the internal,
administrative purposes of the Department. Accordingly, you are required and ordered to
answer the questions that I ask you, as provided in the Department’s General Manual,
Section 07.42.11 (3) and 07.42.12 (1 and 2).

During the course of this series of questions, your answers will be given pursuant
to the Department’s policy, as noted above, that requires you, as a condition of continued
employment, to truthfully answer all such questions as may be asked. Since these
responses are required to be made, the Courts have generally held that such statements
may not be used against you in a criminal proceeding arising out of the same factual
situation, because you are compelled to give them. In addition, if your responses lead to
additional information or evidence, the Courts have generally held that such additional
matters are likewise not available for use in any criminal proceeding arising from the
same factual situation.

Since this is an administrative, internal matter, you are required to answer all
questions asked of you; and if you do not answer such questions, disciplinary action may
be instituted against you separate and apart from the matter referenced above. You are
reminded of the provisions of the Department’s General Order number 4, which provides
that all employees are required “To know and obey at all times the U.S. and state
constitutions, federal and state laws, and lawful orders and instructions.” Department
General Manual Section 06.10.01(4)

DO YOU UNDERSTAND WHAT I HAVE JUST EXPLAINED TO YOU?

YES NO Initials %

I, THE UNDERSIGNED, CERTIFY THAT I HAVE RECEIVED AND
UNDERSTOOD THE ABOVE WARNING.

Date: /<//- /7 (loi, /%WZZM

Signed

Time: /. 2O /D 4/7//5 }/046/77,&;7

Printed Name

0IG-3 (5/10)






Texas Department of Public Safety
Performance Evaluation
Forensic Scientist

Mission: Protect and Serve Texas

Goals:
- Combat Crime & Terrorism
- Enhance Public Safety
- Enhance State-wide Emergency Management
- Enhance Licensing & Regulatory Services

PART 1: Employee Information

a. Employee’s Name (Last, First, Initial): Youngkin, Christopher M

b. Last Four of Employee’s SSN:L -]

c. I.D. No.: 8814

d. Position: Forensic _Scientist =1V

e. Division: Law Enforcement Support

f. Region/District/Co: 1

g. Section/Bureau: Crime Laboratory

h. Type of Evaluation: ® Annual O Probationary [ Close-out [ Special

i. Period Covered: From January 1, 2013 To December 31, 2013

j. Date filed by HR:

PEP-6052E Forensic Scienlist | - IV (Rev, 6-13)
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Name (Last, First, Initlal); Youngkin, ChriStODhel‘ M Last Four of Employee's SSN:! s

PART 2: Job Duties (Comments required for each evaluated Job Duty)

[:Job Duty 1: Analytical Reasoning/Attention to Detail

Performance Rating:
0O Exemplary W Skilled/Effective OO Competent O Marginal O Ineffective

Comments:

Chris has demonstrated his ability to assess a situation and make the proper decision based on his observations.

Chris' use of the electronic blood alcohol worksheet has proven to allow Chis to excel in working out a high volume of blood
alcohol cases.

b. Job Duty 2: Responsibility/Accountability and Direction

Performance Rating:
0O Exemplary B Skilled/Effective O Competent 0O Marginal O Ineffective

Comments:

Chris has demonstrated his ability to accept directions from others and to have others accept directions from him. Chris
served as mentor for Sam at the first part of the past year.

Chris served on the blood alcohol advisory board during the past year.

Chris worked 2,315 blood alcohol cases and 226 drug cases during the past year.

c. Job Duty 3: Communication and Interpersonal/Relationship Management Skills

Performance Rating:
0 Exemplary B Skilled/Effective 0 Competent O Marginal O Ineffective

.Comments:

Chris made approximately 65 court appearance during the past year. Even with the high number of court appearances Chris
has been able to maintain a high case volume. Chris' large number of court appearances has him in contact with
prosecutors seeking assistance by e-mailing him with court questions before his testimony in the court room.

PEP-6052E Forensic Scientist | - IV {Rev. 8-13) 20of8



S
. s |
Name (Last, First, Initlal): Youngkin, Christopher M Last Four of Employee's SSN; —  —

PART 2: Job Duties (Comments required for each evaluated Job Duty)

d. Job DPuty 4: Organizational and Prioritization Skills
Performance Rating:
O Exemplary 3 Skilled/Effective B Competent O Marginal O Ineffective

Comments:

Chris is very organized and maintains a neat and efficient work area.
Chris makes use of the blood alcohol electronic workbook and JusticeTrax that allows for him to be efficient with his time.

e. Job Duty 5: Ethics and Integrity
Performance Rating:
O Exemplary 0O Skilled/Effactive B Competent O Marginal O Ineffective

Comments:
Chris has demonstrated ethical behavior in keeping with DPS policy and regulations,

f. Job Duty 6: Regulatory/Compliance
Performance Rating: .
O Exemplary 0O Skilled/Effective B Competent 0O Marginal O Ineffective

Comments:
Chris read and follows Laboratory Operation Guide, Controlled Substances SOP, Alcohol SOP and local Garland
Laboratory policies. Chris case work reflects his reading of the policies and procedures.

PEP-6052E Forensic Sclantist |- IV (Rev 6-13) 30f6
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Name (Last, First, Initlal); Youngkin, Christopher M Last Four of Employee's SSN; L

PART 2: Job Duties (Comments required for each evaluated Job Duty)

g. Job Duty 7: Flexibility/Adaptability
Performance Rating:
O Exemplary 0 Skilled/Effective W Competent 0 Marginal O Ineffective

Comments:

Chris has demonstrated good time management skills in keeping up with his case load.
Chris use of the blood alcahal workbook and interfacing with JusticeTrax has allowed Chris to maintain a case output that is

above average.

f. Job Duty 8: Teamwork

Performance Rating:
O Exemplary B Skilled/Effective 0O Compstent 0O Marginal O Ineffective

Comments:

Chris suggested and created a chart to help with reminding fellow analysts in the blood alcohol section of events that
needed to take place at a certain time interval. Chris stated that was necessary to help in reminding analysts of certain task
that needed to perform at regular intervals throughout the year.

Chris working with Andrew and Sam maintained the backlog of blood alcohol cases to less than 30 day turnaround. After
Sam transferred Chris working with Andrew were still able to keep the turnaround time less than 30 days.

h, Job Duty 9: Initiative
Performance Rating:
1 Exemplary O Skilled/Effective B Competent O Marginal O Ineffective

Comments:
Chris demonstrates his ability to maintaining his caseload by prioritizing his cases.

PEP-6052E Forensic Scientist | - IV {Rav. 6-13) 4 of 6
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Name (Last, First, Inltial): Youngkin, Christopher M Last Four of Employee's SSNi

PART 2: Job Duties (Comments required for each evaluated Job Duty)

Overall Performance Rating:
O Exemplary O Skilled/Effective B Competent O Marginal O Ineffective

Comments:

Chris has proven himself to be an asset to the Garland laboratory drug/blood alcohol section in his ability and willingness ta accept
responsibility in performing his job duties.

Chris worked with bload alcohol advisory board that came up with guidelines to implement uncertalnty reporting for alcohol cases.
Chris understands the responsibility that is needed on performing the dutles by analysts at the crime laboratory.

Pat Johnson has made comments during the past year about the work that has been performed in Garland Lab's blood alcohol section
and | can only say that both Chris and Andrew's tireless efforts in performing their duties is why they perform at a level above normal
expectations.

The following will be goals for Chris during the upcoming year.

* Complete 200 blood alcohol cases or the equivalent of 80 drug cases as per crime laboratory management

* Serve on the blood alcohol advisory board
* Stay current with readings of Controlled Substances, Blood Alcahol SOPs and Laboratory Operation Guide

* Serve as mentor for Nirav and other trainess for blood alcohols

Parameters for Overall Performance Rating

1. An Ineffective rating for any job skill requires an overall Ineffective rating.

2. A Marginal rating for any job skill requires an overall Marginal rating (unless #1).

3. The same rating in greater than 50% of total job skills requires that rating as the overall rating (unless #1 or #2).

4. When there is no majority in any one rating category, the rating that represents the average should be selected (unless #1 or #2)

(Ex: three Exemplary/twa Skilled/four Competent, equals an overall Skilled rating). If the average is exactly halfway between twa categorles,

the lower category should be selected (unless #1 or #2) (Ex. five Skilled/five Competent, equals an overall Competent rating).

PEP-8052E Forensic Scientist | - IV (Rev. 8-13)

50f6



St R il 5 ek B meen = =

P
|

|
L—

Name (Last, First, Initial): Youngkin, Christopher M Last Four of Employes's SSN

PART 3: Signatures & Comments

EMPLOYEE

I certify that this performance evaluation has been discussed with me. | understand that my signature does not necessarily
indicate agreement.

Employee’s Signature: %ﬂ? %—1‘4&“ Date: yd -/ &/ 9/

Employee comments (optional) [ Please check box if attaching additional pages
T b agrec Hlah A Asceoapps P QW?
re e cts ny er omppsrse 7y A5

Printed Name: Christopher Youngkin

SUPERVISOR
| certify that this perfonn{%.il tap represents my best Judgrment of the employee’s performance.
—t .

Date: &" \L&A‘L(

Supervisor Signature:

Printed Name: Kenneth Evans

Supervisor comments [ Please check box if attaching additional pages
(This space Is reserved for responding to any employee comments. It is not used for general comments.)

REVIEWER
| have read and approved this performance plan.

Reviewer: (_&{(M//}/LA‘/QL\) Date: Z (%1 ‘¢t

Printed Name*—lames Nichaols

Reviewer comments (optional) O Please check box if attaching additional pages

In Line Review: Date:

Printed Name:

PEP-8052E Forensic Saientist 1 - IV (Rev. 6-13) 6of6



Rebuttal to Performance Evaluation for 2013

It is my opinion that | performed my job duties in 2013 much the same way | did in the previous fifteen
years, effectively. This is evidenced by my continued completion of a high volume of cases, where a high
volume is defined as more than 100% of the expectation in less than 100% of the available time. If one
were te whip up a batch of “high volume” from scratch, it must contain certain ingredients, namely the
effective performance of one’s job duties.

There are a couple of omissions from my evaluation regarding the duties that | regularly performed in
2013. First, blood alcohol analysts in the Garland Crime Lab review each other’s cases. This means that |
was responsible for the review of a portion of the thousands of other blood alcohol cases completed in
the Garland Crime Lab in 2013. Secondly, | was responsible for providing documents requested by
defense attorneys. (note: A quality assurance specialist was added to the Garland Crime Lab at some
point in 2013 and this task became their responsibility) Together these two tasks consumed a significant
amount of time in 2013. Considering this puts the high volume of cases | completed in 2013 into praper

perspective.

| am described as being very organized (d. Job Duty 4) but given a rating in the middle of the
performance scale. Completing a high volume of anything will certainly require that individual to be well
organized. Being able to keep affidavits and document requests and cases being worked and cases being
reviewed and cases going to court and scheduling court appearances and answering emails and phone
calls from prosecutors preparing cases for court (and the list goes on) would not be possible without an
exceptional amount of organization.

| am described as having good time management in keeping up with my caseload (g. Job Duty 7) except
that this overlooks the fact that | kept up with more than just my caseload. | kept up with a caseload
perhaps approaching that of two people. | demonstrated quite effectively how flexible and adaptive that
I'was in 2013 not only in adapting to meet the needs of a high volume of submissions but also by my
willingness to complete cases out of order at the request of the customer.

It stills seems more fitting for the entry for h. Job Duty 9 Initiative to be placed in d. Job Duty 4
Organizational and Prioritization Skills since they both contain the word prioritize. The fact that |
demonstrated great initiative in 2013 seems to have gone unnoticed. | was not asked or begged or
persuaded or obligated to completing a high volume of cases in 2013. | took the initiative to do what
was necessary for the Garland Crime Lab to continue to provide timely service to our customers in 2013.

Performing my jobs duties effectively in the past has earned me merit raises, incentive payments,
numerous awards and letters of commendation. Performing my job duties effectively in 2013 earned me
an overall rating in the middle of the performance scale. Perhaps DPS has adopted the same goal as that

of our public education system, mediocrity.

Ko L e

Chris Young:
Receive d -V 2204



TEXAS DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY

CRIME LABORATORY
402 W. Interstate 30
Garland, TX 75043-5902
Voice 214-861-2190 Fax 214-861-2194

STEVENGC. MCCRAW . . COMMISSION
DIRECTOR ~ A, CYNTHIA LEON, CHAIR
DAVID G, BAKER CARIN MARCY BARTH
ROBERT J,BODISCH, SR, MANNY FLORES
CHERYL MacBR.DE STEVEN P. MACH
RANDY WATSON

DEPUTY DIRECTORS

To:  James Nichols, Laboratory Regional Laboratory Manager

From: Kenneth Evans, Drug Sectjon Manager

Date: February 24, 2014W

Subject: Chris Youngkin Evatuation Response to Rebuttal

The evaluation process has changed from the old process. Working a large number of cases is
only one part of being an overall skilled/effective person. The evaluation process now values a

person of being a well-rounded individual that demonstrates the core values of the Department
of Public Safety.

Chris is indeed highly focused in the area of working blood alcohol cases and this was noted in
several areas of his evaluation. A person working a large number of cases is not the only task
that an analyst should strive for. Working well with others, taking a leadership role in the
laboratory, stepping in and seeing things that need attention are things that Chris did not
exhibit during the past year. Chris works with the instruments for the blood alcohol section
however has not showed an interest in learning more about the maintenance of the gas
chromatographs or the hydrogen gas generator. | did note that Chris did indeed excel in areas
of attention to detail, worked 2315 blood alcohol cases, had a large number of court
appearance which would also include contact with prosecutors about some of his cases. | also
noted that he worked well with Andrew and Sam and that they as a team worked to reduce the-
backlog not just Chris alone.

To summarize | feel though that Chris is indeed a hard worker but just working cases is not
what the Department of Public Safety is wanting from our employees but to strive to increase
the overall state of value, courtesy and respect to others and service to one’s job.

W

Kenneth Evans
Drug Section Manager

Votenwed. 40 2 241

ACCREDITED BY THE AMERICAN SOCIETY OF CRIME LABORATORY DIRECTORS - LAB ACCREDITATION BOARD
COURTESY e SERVICE « PROTECTION



From: Nichols, James

Sent: Friday, March 07, 2014 3:39 PM

To: Youngkin, Christopher; Evans, Kenneth

Cc: Robertson, Steve

Subject: 2013 Annual Performance Evaluation Review

Chris,

You are a very valuable member of the DPS Garland Lab team. As noted in the evaluation and your rebuttal you did
complete a great number of cases in 2013 along with reviews, answering records requests, and communicating with
attorneys. For these tasks you were rated skilled/effective for your analytical reasoning/attention to detail,
responsibility/accountability and direction, communication and interpersonal/relationship management skills, and
teamwork.

For the remaining job duties you were rated as competent — which is not the verbiage Kenneth or | choose, but the
rating as given on the evaluation. You are a very good employee. | believe, as the evaluation reflects, you put forth a
great deal of effort which was reflected with a favorable evaluation for 2013. | have taken time to consider the rebuttal
that you provided. However, | do not believe the evaluation should change.

I would like for you and Kenneth to sit down as soon as possible to discuss ways that can bring the competent ratings to
the level of skilled/effective.

| understand that you do not agree with this, but | want to express my appreciation for what you do and ask that you
continue to bring a strong effort and strive to continue to improve.

Thank you,

James Nichols

Regional Lab Manager

Texas DPS Crime Lab - Garland
214-861-2326
James.Nichols@dps.texas.gov

E-MAIL CONFIDENTIALITY STATEMENT

This message contains information which may be confidential and privileged, Unless you are the oddressee (or authorized to receive for the addressee), you may not
use, copy or disclose to anyone the message or any information contained In this message. If you have received the message in error, please advise the sender by reply

e-mail and delete the message.



Nichols, James

From: Youngkin, Christopher

Sent: Tuesday, March 18, 2014 7:35 AM
To: Nichols, James

Subject: RE: Discussion

I do appreciate your sentiments but | think my evaluation reflects how you truly feel about my performance. Talk is
cheap. It was a revelation to me that my performance evaluation actually has very little to do with my performance. You
contend that you were instructed that it is not just about numbers. | had always thought that was to comfort those who
didn’t have any. | never imagined it would be used to dismiss one's performance. Since production is my skill (| am not
sure | have a skill set) it is unfortunate that that alone cannot be evaluated highly. It has been my experience that the
department employs forensic scientists for the specific purpose of testing evidence. | was saddened that you received
my comments as an effort to offend. My point was that it is so common that most parents would instruct their children
(which is an assumption based on my own experiences) and so simple that a child can understand and execute the
instructions. | do understand that there are those that find the truth offensive.

I do agree that the list below is reflective of the suggestions made yesterday. | guess we will see what the future holds.

Chris

From: Nichols, James

Sent: Monday, March 17, 2014 4:50 PM
To: Youngkin, Christopher; Evans, Kenneth
Subject: Discussion

Chris,
I'm glad we met today. As | said, you are a very good analyst and you deserve a good evaluation. | agree with your
statement that if there is something you can do to bring up your evaluation from competent to skilled then you need to

know. ‘

I hope you can reflect upon areas to make yourself a better analyst and coworker-please add your thoughts to this list
that we discussed:

-Assist with BA instrument maintenance

-Assist with ordering/scheduling supplies .

-Attend management classes

-Work on improving open/positive communication with coworkers

Please add/edit these traits and | will send out a final version this week.

James Nichols

Regional Lab Manager

Texas DPS Crime Lab - Garland
214-861-2326
James.Nichols@dps.texas.gov

E-MAIL CONFIDENTIALITY STATEMENT

This message contains information which may be confidential and privileged, Unless you are the addressee (or autharized to receive for the addressee), you may not
use, copy or disclose to anyone the message or any information contained in this message. If you have received the message in error, please advise the sender by reply

e-mail and delete the message,
1



Texas Department of Public Safety
Performance Evaluation
Forensic Scientist I-V

Mission: Protect and Serve Texas

Goals:
- Combat Crime & Terrorism
- Enhance Public Safety
- Enhance State-wide Emergency Management
- Enhance Licensing & Regulatory Services

PART 1: Employee Information
a. Employee’s Name (Last, First, Initial): Youngkin, Christopher M

b. Last Four of Employee’s SSN:[_ 1

-

c. I.D. No.: gg14

d. Position: Forensic Scientist
Level: IV

e. Division: Law Enforcement Support

f. Region/District/Co: 1

g. Section/Bureau: Crime Laboratory

h. Type of Evaluation: B Annual [0 Probationary O Close-out [J Special

i. Period Covered: From 1/1/2014 : To _12/31/2014

HR-reviewed by: Date

[J Accepted O Rejected and returned to customer

6052E Forenslc Sclentist |-V (Rev. 10-14) 10of5
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Name (Last, First, Initial): Youngkin, Christopher M Last Four of Employee's Ssmw A

PART 2: Job Duties (Comments required for each evaluated Job Duty)

OB DUTY 1: LEADERSHIP
Performance Rating:
[ Exemplary 1 Skilled/Effective #l Competent O Marginal O Ineffective

Comments:

Chris brings to the attention of management of issues that may affect the operation of the blood alcohol section after he has
attended a blood alcohol advisory board meeting.

Chris follows the gdidelines and polices as outlined in the DPS General Manual and Laboratory Operation Guide. He has
always demonstrated integrity and honesty in his work ethics while performing his duties and those duties that have been
assigned to him.

It is evident that Chris is committed in performing his duties in working blood alcohol cases. He has been able to help the
section in maintaining a 30 day turnaround in cases throughout most of the past year. This requires that a person needs to
be organized while balancing providing testimony in court and the analysis of casework samples. Chris has demonstrated
this ability throughout the past year.

Chris should continue his being proactive efforts of bringing to the attention management of ideas and suggestions that help
make the section improve in all aspects of being productive and efficient.

6052E Forensic Sclentlst -V (Rev. 10-14) 20of5



_ , o L T T
Name (Last, First, Initial): Youngkin, Christopher M Last Baur of Employedis SN | {

PART 2: Job Duties (Comments required for each evaluated Job Duty)

JOB DUTY 2: COMMUNICATION
Performance Rating:
O Exemplary B Skilled/Effective O Competent 00 Marginal O Ineffective

Comments:

Chris volunteered and participated in the DPS Citizen's Academy this past fall. He gave a presentation on both controlled
substance and blood alcohol. He conducted tours of the section and fielded questions from the students that had
participated in the program. The feedback that | received from the organizer was positive and that all of the people that had
presented did an excellent job,

Chris made 62 court appearances this year and testified 52 times with a total of 311 hours out of the laboratory. Chris has
had pretrial conferences with attorneys concerning his testimony on several occasioris throughout the year.

Chris seems to thrive working under the pressure of the caseload that is here in Garland blood alcohol section. He works
the cases without the need of being asked to do so. He is able to make adjustments in his schedule to accommodate those
requests that come in when the results are needed by the court system.

Chris has the respect of his fellow coworkers in the area of his job knowledge and they are willing to ask him questions

regarding job related matters however they are sometimes reluctant to engage him on a more personal level. Chris has
been observed in changing this aspect and has been seen speaking to his fellow coworkers in more causal settings.

6052E Forenslc Sclentist |-V (Rev. 10-14) 30f5



Name (Last, First, Initial): Youngkin, Christopher M Last Four of Employse’s SSN: \

PART 2: Job Duties (Comments required for each evaluated Job Duty)

OB DUTY 3: JOB KNOWLEDGE AND EXECUTION
Performance Rating:
[ Exemplary H Skilled/Effective [0 Competent O Marginal O Ineffective

Comments:

Chris during the past year attended the Southwestern Association of Forensic Scientist fall conference in South Padre Island
in which he attended a two day workshop on Aspects of Forensic Alcohol Toxicology - Not Just Drinking and Driving.

Chris also attended an 18 hour course on alcohol and Drug Training for Forensic Scientist hosted by Texas A&M
Transportation Institute in Austin this past August. ’

Chris completed 2,314 blood alcoho! cases and 51 drug cases during the past year. The total number of completed cases
equates to 96.98 cases per month. Chris completed 2256 blood alcohols or 97% of the cases that he completed had less
than a 30 day turnaround time. Chris was able to perform this taking into consideration his 311 hours or 39 days being in
court. This should be contributed to Chris and his fellow coworkers that he has working with him as a team committed to
getting the job done. Chris knows what is needed and does not require a lot of direct supervision to be motivated. He has a
high level of self-motivation. ‘

Goals for Chris for the year 2015:

Meet case DPS Crime Management expectations of 80 drug case equivalents per 30 days throughout the year with
checkpoints of this performance to be done at the end of each quarter. If expectations are not being met the analyst will be
placed on an action plan with the goal that the next quarter the analyst must meet the average of 80 cases per 30 day -

7 utput.

Assist Andrew with the training of our newest blood alcohol analyst, Christine Hay, to notify Andrew when he is performing
an analysis so that Christine could observe Chris setting up a sample batch and learn the processing that is used by our

blood alcohol analysts.

If money is available to attend either the Clandestine Laboratory Investigating Chemist Association fall conference meeting
in Oklahoma City or the Southwestern Association of Forensic Scientists fall conference also being held in Oklahoma City.

Because of Chris' experience it would beneficial to the laboratory staff preparing to study and take their ABC examinations if
he could make a short presentation about the aspects of alcohol analysis.

Attend any DPS sponsored or in-house training that may be setup to prepare an analyst to take the ABC certification
examinations.
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Name (Last, First, Initial): Youngkin, Christopher M Last Four of Employee’s SSN: [_- t‘

PART 3: Signatures & Comments

EMPLOYEE

| certify that this performance evaluation has been discussed with me. | understand that my signature does not necessarily
indicate agreement.

Employee’s Signature: %‘J y%?"/?%a; Date: /' /77”/5‘

Printed Name: Christopher Youngkin

Employee comments (optional) - 1 Please check box if attaching additional pages
SUPERVISOR
{ certify that this performance evaluation represents my best judgment of the employee's performance.
N\ el
< e ™ -
Supervisor Signature: ___§ 7 Date:___{-27 -\

Printed Name: Kenneth Evans

Supervisor comments [0 Please check box if attaching additional pages
(This space is reserved for responding to any employee comments. It is not used for general comments.)

REVIEWER
! have read and approved this performance evaluation.

|| . . o
Reviewer: Q‘frl A : ‘A_)r\j\ Date: % E AR

Printed Name: James Nichols
Reviewer comments (optional) [0 Please check box if attaching additional pages

In Line Review #1: Date:

Printed Name:

In Line Review #2: Date:

Printed Name:

[ Recommended for permanent employment (if applicable)
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Texas Department of Public Safety
Performance Evaluation
Forensic Scientist |-V

Mission: Protect and Serve Texas

Goals:
= Combat Crime & Terrorism
- Enhance Public Safety
- Enhance State-wide Emergency Management
- Enhance Licensing & Regulatory Services

PART 1: Employee Information

a. Employee’s Name (Last, First, Initial): Youngkin, Christopher M
b. Last Four of Employee’s SSN: [/ /‘\\

c. I.D. No.: gg14 |

d. Position: Forensic Scientist
Level: Iv

e. Division: Law Enforcement Support

f. Region/District/Co: 1

d. Section/Bureau: Crime Laboratory

h. Type of Evaluation: B Annual O Probationary [ Close-out [ Special

i. Period Covered: From January 1. 2015 To December 31, 2015

HR-reviewed by: Date

O Accepted O Rejected and returned to customer

6052E Forenslc Scientist -V (Rev, 10-14)
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Name (Last, First, Initial): Youngkin, Christopher M Last Four of Employee’s SSN:/__ |

PART 2: Job Duties (Comments required for each evaluated Job Duty)

JOB DUTY 1: LEADERSHIP
Performance Rating:
O Exemnplary O Skilled/Effective B Competent 0 Marginal O Ineffective

-

Comments:
Chris brings to the attention of management of issues that may affect the operation of the blood alcohol section after he has
attended a blood alcohol advisory board meeting.

Chris follows the guidelines and polices as outlined in the DPS General Manual and Laboratory Operation Guide. He has
always demonstrated integrity and honesty in his work ethics while performing his duties and those duties that have been
assigned to him.

Chris worked with Christine and Nirav on a presentation for the Statewide Blood Alcohol Analysts. The topic that he
presented dealt with defense tactics or antics that they have encountered in court.

Chris should continue his being proactive communicating to management any ideas and suggestions that help improve the
section improve in being productive and efficient. With Andrew serving as the controlled substance advisory chair Chris may
be asked to give a summary of the blood alcohol advisory board meeting in the form of verbal communication in meetings.
Chris may not realize it but he is looked upon as a leader because of his seniority in the laboratory and his job knowledge
and experience that he has.

A goal for Chris is to keep management informed on communications that he has with officers of the courts which would
include prosecutors and defense attorneys. It is understood that not all conversations have to be directed to management
but to keep the management team informed throughout the year.
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Name (Last, First, Initial): Youngkin, Christopher M Last Four of Employea’s SSN; L .j

g IPART 2: Job Duties (Comments required for each evaluated Job Duty)

JOB DUTY 2: COMMUNICATION

Performance Rating:

O Exemplary [ Skilled/Effective H Competent O Marginal O Ineffective
Comiments:

Chris gave a presentation on forensic science to students at Wylie High School.

Chris made 54 court appearances this year and testified 50 times with a total of 225 hours out of the laboratory.

Chris seems to thrive under the pressure of the caseload that is here in Garland blood alcohol section. He works his cases
without being asked to do so and he is able to make adjustments in his schedule to respond to his many court appearances.

Chris has the respect of his fellow coworkers in the area of his job knowledge and they are willing to ask him questions
regarding job related matters.

Chris should remember he is part of a team and that nonverbal actions that may seem insignificant could be misinterpreted
by others around him. Due to the nature of with blood alcohol analysis, Chris has the opportunity to be a liaison with our
customers and that Chris could keep management informed of these communications.
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Name (Last, First, Initial): Youngkin, Christopher M Last Four of Employee’s SSN: [ \

PART 2: Job Duties (Comments required for each evaluated Job Duty)

JOB DU :JOB OWLED D EXECUTIO

Performance Rating:

@ Exemplary O Skilled/Effective O Competent 0 Marginal O Ineffective
Comments:

Chris attended the Statewide Blood Alcohol Analyst meeting held in Austin in November 2015. During this meeting Chris
gave a presentation on defense antics in the court room during the meeting. Steve Robertson made a statement at the
closing of the meeting that Chris’ presentation was an example of what he felt the state wide meeting of the analysts was for
the sharing of ideas and experiences between labs in the system. :

Chris assisted with the blood alcohol training of Christine Hay. He worked closely with Christine during her blood training.
Chris completed 2,942 blood alcohol cases and performed 2,538 reviews during the past year. This resulted in Chris having
192 point average per month for the year. Chris is a self-motivated person who does not require a lot of direct supervision
for him to perform the job working cases. Chris’ number of cases completed was 51% of the total number of case completed
forthe year. There were 5,661 blood alcohol cases released for 2015,

Goals for Chris for the year 2016:

Continue to meet DPS Crime Management expectations of 100 paoint average per 30 days throughout the year with
checkpoints of this performance to be done at the end of each quarter. If expectations are not being met the analyst will be
placed on an action plan with the goal that the next quarter the analyst must meet the average of 200 blood cases per 30

day output. )

Chris should continue to serve as a member of the blood alcohol advisory board. As a result of his being a member Chris
maybe asked to help implement the new Shimadzu alcohol project. The Garland Lab will benefit from Chris' involvement on
the advisory board as he will be able to communicate any concerns that the blood alcohol section members might have

regarding the new project.

If money is available to attend the Southwestern Association of Forensic Scientists fall conference being held in Galveston
Texas. Chris also had expressed an interest in attending the International Association for Chemical Testing (IACT)

conference being held in Orlando Florida this year.
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Name (Last, First, Initial): Youngkin, Christopher M Last Four of Employse's SSN:L,\E\__
PART 3: Signatures & Comments
EMPLOYEE
| certify that this performance evaluation has been discussed with me. | understand that my signature does not necessarily

indicate agreement. '

Employee's Signature: %*’3 %OMZ&I/V Date: /< ?'/¢

Printed Name: Christopher Youngkin / g
Employee comments (optional) [ Please check box if attaching additional pages

SUPERVISOR
| certify that this performﬁe @valuation represents my best judgment of the employee’s performance.
hat

Date: l" Lct = l(@

Supervisor Signature:

Printed Name: Kenneth Evans

Supervisor comments [ Please check box if attaching additional pages
(This space is reserved for responding to any employee comments. It is not used for general comments.)

REVIEWER
| have read and approved this performance evaluation.

Reviewer: QYL/\\/\/\\AQ )\ Date: ( 291
Printed Name: véa\ls Nichols

Reviewer comments (optional) ' . [ Please check box if attaching additional pages

In Line Review #1: Date:

Printed Name:

In Line Review #2: Date:

Printed Name:

[C1 Recommended for permanent employment (if applicable)
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From dictionary.com

Test tube- noun

A hollow cylinder of thin glass with one end closed, used in
chemical and biological experimentation and analysis.

Vial- noun

A small container, as of glass, for holding liquids:
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CHRIS YOUNGKIN STATE OF TEXAS v. SARAS/STEELE 10/24/2016

CAUSE NO. 007-84061-2016
THE STATE OF TEXAS ) IN THE COUNTY COURT 3
)
)
)
VS ) AT LAW NO. 7
)
)
)
)

ROGER PAUL SARAS

CAUSE NO. 006-86542-2016
THE STATE OF TEXAS IN THE COUNTY COURT

)
)
)
)
Vs ) AT LAW NO. 6
)
)
)
)

AARON JOHN STEELE

ORAL AND VIDEOTAPED DEPOSITION OF
CHRIS YOUNGKIN
VOLUME 1

OCTOBER 24, 2016
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CHRIS YOUNGKIN STATE OF TEXAS v. SARAS/STEELE 10/24/2016

Page 2 |

1 ORAL AND VIDEOTAPED DEPOSITION OF CHRIS

2 YOUNGKIN, produced as a witness at the instance of the

3 Court, and duly sworn, was taken in the above-styled and
4 —-numbered cause(s) on October 24, 2016, from 9:13 a.m.

> to 12:04 p.m., before Terri L. Nelson, CSR in and for

9 the State of Texas, reported by computerized-machine

g shorthand, at the Collin County Courthouse, Jury

8 Conference Room, 3100 Bloomdale Road, in the City of

9 McKinney, County of Collin, and State of Texas, pursuant
10 to the Texas Rules of Civil Procedure.

11
12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20
21

22

23

24

25
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CHRIS YOUNGKIN STATE OF TEXAS v. SARAS/STEELE 10/24/2016

M
:

Page 3

1 A PPEARANCES
ATTORNEYS FOR THE STATE OF TEXAS:
Mr. Bill Wirskye

N

3 ASSTSTANT DISTRICT ATTORNEY
Collin County District Attorney's Office
4 2100 Bloomdale Road
Suite 100
5 McKinney, Texas 75071
Phone: (972) 548-3883
6 E-mail: Dbwirskyelcollincountytx.gov

SBOT# 00788696

Mr. Bill Dobiyanski

8 FIRST ASSISTANT DISTRICT ATTORNEY
Collin County District Attorney's Office
9 2100 Bloomdale Road
Suite 100
10 McKinney, Texas 75071
Phone: (972) 548-4335
11 E-mail: bdobiyanski@Qcollincountytx.gov

SBOT# 05925925
12

13 ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANTS:
Mr. Troy Burleson

14 - and -
Mr. Hunter Biederman
15 BIEDERMAN & BURLESON
2591 Dallas Parkway
16 Suite 207
Frisco, Texas 75034
17 Phone: (469) 333-3333
E-mail: friscolaw@gmail.com
18 SBOT #24048009 Burleson

SBOT #24048009 Biederman
19

20 ALSO PRESENT:
Mr. Kevin M. Brooks

21 FELONY TRIATL BUREAU CHIEF
Criminal District Attorney's Office
22 Frank Crowley Courts Building
133 North Riverfront Boulevard, LB 19
23 Dallas, Texas 75207-4399
Phone: (214) 653-3600
24 E-mail: kevin.brooks@dallascounty.org

SBOT# 03070735
25
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A PPEARANTCES (continued)

Mr. Michael Moore

CHIEF OF FELONY TRIAL DIVISION

Denton County District Attorney's Office
1450 East McKinney Street

Third Floor

Denton, Texas 76202-2344

Phone: (940) 349-2623

E-mail: michael.moore@dentoncounty.com
SBOT# 00791295

Ms. Kristin Kidd

CHIEF OF THE MISDEMEANOR TRIAL DIVISION
Denton County District Attorney's Office
1450 East McKinney Street

Third Floor

Denton, Texas 76202-2344

Phone: (940) 349-2688

VIDEOGRAPHER:
Mr. Billy Gonzalez
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CHRIS YOUNGKIN STATE OF TEXAS v. SARAS/STEELE 10/24/2016

Page 7 §

1 PROCEHRKDTINGS

& THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Going on the record,
3 Monday, October 24th, 2016. The time is approximately
. 9:13 a.m.

5 Will the reporter please swear in the
6 witness.

7 CHRIS YOUNGKIN,

8 having been first duly sworn, testified as follows:
s EXAMINATION

L0 BY MR. WIRSKYE:

11 Q. Okay. Could you tell us your full name.

12 A. Chris Youngkin.

13 Q. Okay. And you're an analyst with the

L Department of Public Safety?

15 A. Yes, sir.

16 Q. And you work out of the Garland lab?

17 A. That's correct.

18 Q. And you know why you're here today?

= A. I do.

20 Q. And, just for the record, you know my name 1is
217 Bill Wirskye. I'm a Second Assistant here in the Collin

22 County DA's office.

23 A. Yes, sir.
2 Q. And behind me is Bill Dobiyanski, the First
25 Assistant. That's a yes or no?

STERLING REPORTING SERVICES, INC. (972) 987 6285
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CHRIS YOUNGKIN STATE OF TEXAS v. SARAS/STEELE 10/24/2016

Page 8
Yes, I do —-
Okay.

-— see him. Sorry.

w
(ORI O B

And also in the room we have Kevin Brooks, the
5 Chief of the Felony Trial Division for the Dallas County
6 DA's office, as well as some representatives of the

! Denton County DA's office, Mike Moore and Kristin Kidd.

8 And so you acknowledge all those people. Is that right?

9 A, I do.
L0 Q. Okay. And you realize we're here today based
11 on some testimony that you gave last week in Collin

12 County. Is that right?

13 A. Potentially two weeks ago.

14 0 Was it two weeks ago?

15 A. I believe so.

16 Q Okay. But during that hearing you invoked your

L7 Fifth Amendment right. You recall that?

18 A. I do.

19 0. And it's my understanding here today you are

20 going to withdraw that invocation. Is that correct?

21 A. That's correct.

22 Q. And it is your intention today to withdraw and
23 waive any Fifth Amendment rights and proceed forward for
24 questioning; is that right?

25 A. It is.

e e e e e e e e S G e e e s N R e e
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Page 9
1 Q. Okay. In just a few minutes I am going to pass
2 the witness over to these gentlemen. Do you have any
3 questions before we get started?
4 A. I do not.
> MR. WIRSKYE: Okay. I'll pass the witness.
6 MR. BURLESON: Thank you, Mr. Wirskye.
7 Troy Burleson. For the record, that's

8 B-U-R-L-E-S-0-N. Before we begin, I'd like to thank the

9 representatives from Denton County for being here and
10 from Dallas County for being here and, of course, Collin
11 County for being here.
12 EXAMINATION

13 BY MR. BURLESON:

14 Q. Mr. Youngkin, before we begin, let's first talk
15 about why we're here. As you may know, my partner and
16 I, Hunter Biederman, filed discovery motions in order to
17 discover what we would think would be Brady material or
18 39.14 material out of the Texas Code of Criminal

19 Procedure. We did that in all seven courts here in

20 Collin County and we had hearings set.

21 Last Thursday the judges got together and
22 ordered us to a deposition. So instead of you

23 testifying in front of seven different judges, in front
24 of the seven different juries, potentially, the judges
25 ordered us to be here today.

ot
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Page 10 [
1 A. Okay.
2 Q. Now, having said that, the Rules apply to this
3 hearing as they would in court. I am under strict rules
< from the Judge to, one, be on my best behavior and,
9 number two, to treat you courteously. I will do that.
6 But you will answer my questions and you will answer my
g questions yes or no, and if you don't, or if I think
L you're being evasive, I have no problem having this in
3 front of seven different juries. Are we clear on that?
10 A. I am.
&4 Q. Okay.
12 A. I will answer the questions yes or no, to the
L best of my ability.
14 Q. Fair enough.
15 MR. WIRSKYE: Counsel, just let me
16 interject. To the best of his ability on the yes-or-no
17 questions seems fair to me.
18 MR. BURLESON: And I understand that,
19 Mr. Wirskye, and I agree with that.
20 MR. WIRSKYE: Thank you.
21 MR. BURLESON: Thank you, sir.
22 0. (BY MR. BURLESON) All right. So let's back
23 up. Mr. Wirskye asked you this and I just want to be
24 perfectly clear. On October the 12th, 2016, in the
25 State of Texas versus Tyler Avaritt, you invoked your

e e e e e e e e e e R e A R s R e s s e e e e e S e R A
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Page 11 3

1 Fifth Amendment privilege. Correct?
2 A. I did, at the Judge's encouragement.
& Q. Okay, see. Did you invoke it knowingly,
4 intelligently, and freely or did -- are you saying you
5 were forced to invoke your Fifth Amendment?
6 A. I was not forced. I did it at the Judge's
7 recommendation.
8 Q. So you're saying that Judge Baxter recommended
s that you take the Fifth?
10 A. Correct.
11 Q. And that's your testimony here under oath?
12 A. Tt is.
13 Q. Okay. So let's go back to where this kind of
L all started. First and foremost, you work for the
15 Department of Public Safety crime laboratory in Garland.
16 Correct?
17 A. Correct.
18 Q. And that is a state agency, is it not?
19 A. It is.
20 Q. Your Job is to test for blood alcohol contents
21 of potential defendants. Correct?
22 A. That is one of my duties. That's correct.
25 Q. Okay. And then to come and testify in court as
24 to those results. Correct?
29 A. Correct.

STERLING REPORTING SERVICES, INC. (972) 987-6285

5057361d-2624-4900-b91f-dfdf5f07¢984



CHRIS YOUNGKIN STATE OF TEXAS v. SARAS/STEELE 10/24/2016

Page 12 :
1 Q. Okay. The vast majority of your testimony is
2 as an expert for the State. Correct?
3 A. Correct.
. Q. Okay. You began working for the DPS in 1998.
9 Is that correct?
5 A. That is not correct.
7 Q. Okay. When did you begin working for the DPS?
8 A. In 1996.
9 Q. '96. When did you begin testing for blood
e alcohol concentrations?
L A. That was in 1998.
1.2 Q. Okay. When did you start testifying in regard
13 to your findings in court on blood alcohol
L concentration?
15 A. Most likely, in 1999 or 2000.
Le Q. Okay. So late 1999, early 2000. Correct?
17 A. Correct.
18 Q. Since late 1999 or early 2000, how many blood
L specimens have you tested? And I want to focus that in
20 on individual blood specimens.
2 A. Potentially 15,000.
22 Q. Okay.
23 A. It's difficult for me to answer specifically.
24 Q. I'm not asking for, you know, 15,142.
25 A. Okay. Great.

STERLING REPORTING SERVICES, INC. (972) 987-6285
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Page 13 :

1 Q. I totally get it.
2 A. Okay.
3 Q. If you ask me how many trials I had, I can give
4 you an estimate but not -- not specifically.
S So 1f we use the estimate of 15,000 in the
6 remainder of this deposition, you would agree with me
7 that that's a -- not an accurate but a good enough
8 number as far as an estimate. Correct?
9 A. Correct.
10 Q. Since late '99, early 2000, how many times have
11 you testified as an expert for the State in a trial?
12 A. Potentially 4- to 500 times.
13 Q. Okay. 4- to 500 times.
14 All right. So you would agree with me that

15 anywhere between 14,600 people, the 14,500 people have

16 not challenged you on your blood findings since 2000.

17 Correct?

18 A. Potentially half of those testimonies would

19 have been related to controlled substance analysis.

20 It's a type of analysis that I performed previously.

21 Q. So half of the 400 to 500 would be a controlled
22 substance?

23 A. Correct.

24 Q. Okay. So how many times have you testified

25 about a person with just alcohol only?

ey = = e T N S e e e e e e
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Page 14 ;
1 A. Approximately half of those. |
2 Q. So 200 to 250 times. Correct?
S A. Correct. And, again, that's just an estimate.
4 Q. And how many of those 15,000 were actually just
S alcohol related?
6 A. Well, those would be the 15,000 blood specimens
7 in answer to your question.
8 Q. Okay. So now we're talking 14,800 people to

9 14,750 people. Correct?

10 A. Potentially, yes, sir.

11 Q. Potentially, okay.

12 All right. ©Now let's talk about the DPS
13 crime lab. Again, you said that was a State agency.

4 Correct?

15 A. I did.

16 Q. 1Is there a fence around the Garland crime lab?
17 A. There is.

18 Q. Okay. Can a civilian go in and watch you work?
19 A. They cannot.

20 Q. Okay. Can an attorney, defense attorney, send
21 in an expert to watch you work?

22 A. They cannot.

23 Q. Okay. Let's assume for a second that I have a
24 client -- and we'll just use the generic name of

25 Mr. Smith -- and Mr. Smith hires me. Can I call you and

Prees i e e e e e e e R e e e e e
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Page 15
say, Mr. Youngkin -- or one of your coworkers -- I would
like to be present to watch you test Mr. Smith's blood?

Can I do that?

A. Can you call me and ask me that?

Q. Yes.

A. You certainly could.

Q. ©Okay. And what would your answer be?
A. No.

Q. No. Okay.

Now, when you do your work, who oversees
your work?

A. All the work that I do is reviewed by another
analyst. My section is managed by Kenneth Ewvans, who
was here today.

Q. Okay. So let's back up.

Do you understand what the term "batch"
means?

A. Batch?

Q. Yes. What does "batch" mean?

A. Just a collection of things that are being

Q. Okay. What is a blood kit?
A. A blood kit is this white box here that DPS
provides for sale for agencies to use.

Q. Okay. What would you recognize as a gas

TRy e e e
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Page 16 |
1 chromatograph?
2 A. A gas chromatograph is a scientific instrument
3 used in a testing of blood for alcohol.
4 Q. Okay. Now, in your testing you deal with two
2 different objects that contain a person's blood.
6 Correct?
7 A. Correct. At some point in time.
e Q. Some point in time.
9 Now, within the DPS blood kit, there are
L0 two objects that contain a person's blood. What are
11 those objects called?
L2 A. Gray-top tubes.
= Q. Okay. Are they also known as vials?
e A. It depends on who you ask. Some people do
15 refer to them as vials.
le Q. Well, I'm asking you.
17 A. I refer to it as a gray-top tube.
18 Q. Okay. So if you were ever asked, under oath,
19 in a courtroom if a DPS blood kit contained a wvial, what
20 would the only truthful answer be?
21 A. That would depend on the context of that
22 question. They do contain gray-top tubes. If this
29 context has been established in that proceeding, then I
24 would answer the question the way it was asked.
25 Q. Okay. Well, let me ask it this way. If you
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Page 17
5 were asked in a court proceeding, under oath, what's
2 contained in a DPS blood kit, what would your truthful
3 answer be?
< A. A number of things. Some padding, some plastic

> containers, and two gray-top tubes, potentially. All

6 the agencies don't necessarily submit both gray-top

7 tubes.

& Q. Okay. ©Now, have you ever referred to a

S gray-top tube as a vial?
10 A. I have answered questions about gray-top tubes
11 where the question was worded using the word "vial."
12 Q. So you would admit that, under oath, you've
13 actually been asked a question about a gray-top tube and
14 you've answered a question when it was referred to as a
15 vial. Correct?
16 A. I have, yes, sir.
17 Q. Have you ever answered a generic question and

18 actually called the containers within the DPS blood kit

19 a vial?

20 A. Not that I can recall, but as we've been over
21 already, I've testified many times.

22 Q. Okay. Well, let me ask you this. If a defense
23 attorney asked you what's contained in a DPS blood kit,
24 under oath, and you said it contained two vials, would

25 that be a truthful or untruthful statement?

= e e e s e e e (e e
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g A. I would presume it was recorded correctly in
2 that proceeding and having sworn to tell the truth and
3 if that was my answer, that was my answer.
. Q. I appreciate your question -- or your answer,
S but that's not the question I asked you. The question I
6 asked you was, If you were asked what's contained in a
7 DPS blood kit you said it contained two vials, would

8 that be a truthful or a not truthful statement?

3 A. It would be truthful in the sense that the word
10 "vial"™ is often used in proceedings to refer to gray-top
il tubes.

12 Q. Okay. Now let's go back to DPS for a minute.
13 You've already said that civilians cannot be there to
= see that you do your work correctly. Correct?

Lo A. That's correct.

16 Q. The only people that oversee you are people

17 with DPS. Is that correct?

18 A. That's correct.
19 Q. Now let's talk a little bit about blood
20 testing. You would agree with me that a hospital test a

21 blood much differently than the DPS laboratory test

22 blood. Correct?

23 A. As I understand it, it is a different type of
24 testing, yes, sir.

25 Q. Okay. Let's talk about some differences.
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1 Number one, hospitals test plasma, which is liquid
2 blood. Correct?
3 A. Plasma or serum. That's correct.
. Q. Okay. You test gas. Correct?
> A. Well, the method of the testing does employ

6 headspace sampling, but it's still the blood being

g tested.
8 Q. Okay. Well, the blood is heated up and you
9 test the gas above the blood in your particular lab
10 instrument. Correct?
11 A. That's correct.
12 Q. All right. So, hospital, 1if they're testing
13 for a liquid, if there's any chance of
14 cross-contamination —-- meaning, you've got two different
15 blood samples, for instance, like an A and an AB in that

16 blood sample, a hospital will be able to catch it.

L7 Correct?

18 A. I don't have an answer to that question. I've
19 never worked in a hospital laboratory.

20 Q. Do you recall answering that question to me

21 under oath --

22 A. I remember questioning that it's probably

23 possible.

24 Q. Okay.

25 A. Just the way that you had worded it, I'm not --

e A e L R G e e
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Q. Fair enough.

With gas, you can't determine whether or
not you mixed two peoples' blood samples together.
Correct?

A. Not from the gas. That's correct.

Q. Okay. When a hospital tests your blood, let's
say, for basic diagnosis, you go in; you're not feeling
good; the hospital tests your blood. You would agree
with me that the lab analyst in the hospital is only
testing one blood sample at a time. Correct?

A. Again, I've never worked in a hospital
laboratory, so I can't answer that question.

Q. Okay. Well, you would agree that you are not
testing one person's blood sample at a time. Correct?

A. Again, it would depend on what you mean
specifically. We've already established that they are
tested in batches, but each one of these i1s then tested
individually.

Q. Okay. Well, let's kind of go through this.
And I'm going to stand up to the board and you can just
kind of turn around, if you will.

So, Mr. Youngkin --

MR. BIEDERMAN: He's not getting you on the
mic now, if you pull that off.

MR. BURLESON: TI'll just switch -- I'11l

P
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1 Just switch with Chris. Let me borrow yours real quick
2 and you can borrow that one. Thank you.
3 Can you hear me, sir?
4 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: (Affirms.)
5 MR. BURLESON: Okay.
6 Q. (BY MR. BURLESON) Okay. So, Mr. Youngkin,
7 basically what happens is -- I'm going to come in here

8 and say BC for blood kit. You get a blood kit in the

2 your laboratory. Correct?
10 A. Correct.
11 Q. Okay. That's number one.
L2 Within that blood kit there contains two
13 objects that have a person's blood. Correct?
14 A. Potentially. That's correct.
L9 Q. Okay. Well, you keep saying "potentially."

16 What do you mean by "potentially"?

Y A. The blood kits are not always submitted with
18 two gray-top tubes containing blood.
19 Q. Okay. How many of them are often submitted

20 with two gray-top tubes of blood?

21 A. I would say a majority of them. More than

22 half.

23 Q. Okay. All right. So what you do —-- let's talk
28 about credibility, okay? Because this is not just about
29 you switching something in 2013 that we're going to get

e e s R s e e S e
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5 to. This is about credibility.

2 When this gray-top tube —-- or when this

S blood kit comes into your lab, where does it go?

. A. 1It's assigned a unique laboratory case number

5 and then it's placed into a refrigerator for storage.

6 Q. And how long does it stay there?

7 A. Until it's tested.

E Q. How long is that normally?

9 A. Two or three weeks.

10 Q. Two or three weeks. Okay.
11 Now, within that time, how many people have
12 access to this refrigerated unit?

13 A. It would depend on what point in time. If it's
14 stored in the vault on the first floor, that access 1is
15 limited to management and evidence custodians. If it's
LO been moved to the third floor refrigeration unit, then
17 the analysts would have access to that.

18 Q. So there are quite a few people who have access
19 to this blood. Correct?
20 A. At certain points in time, that's correct.
21 Q. Okay. So we have to —-- because we can't go in
22 and double-check. We can't send in someone that's not
23 associated with DPS. We have to rely on the credibility
24 of DPS to make sure that this blood is not tampered with
25 before you get it in your hands. Correct?
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1 A. Correct. That would be recorded in the
2 records.
3 Q. Okay. Now, when you decide to test a batch --
. I'm going to put a "batch" right here -- what you do is
> you come in and you grab 40 of these blood kits.
6 Correct?
7 A. T would, yes, sir.
8 Q. Okay. And would you call the liquid in these
3 objects -- would you call those "samples"?
L0 A. I certainly could. That would be accurate.
11 Q. Have you used "samples" before?
12 A. T have, yes, sir.
13 Q. So what you do 1is you grab 40 of these. And
e you take one tube from each kit. Correct?
15 A. At some point in time. I'm not sure what the
16 rest of the question is.
17 Q. Well, you line them up sequentially. Correct?
18 A. I would, yes, sir.
&2 Q. Okay. Do 40.
20 All right. ©Now, let's talk about how you
21 test. You basically have two columns. On the left side
22 you've got what's known as your gray-top tube. Correct?
23 That contains a sample, right? (Indicating.)
24 A. As it's drawn, that's correct.
25 Q. All right. On the right side you have what

e e
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you're calling a headspace vial. Correct?
A. Correct.
Q. All right. Now, headspace vials are empty and

unmarked when you get them. Correct?

A.
today.

OF

A.

one from each blood kit. Correct?

A.
Q.

instance,

location
A,
Q.
A.

until number 7, typically --

Q.

We're -—-—-

Page 24

They are. And I have examples of this with me

I see it right here --
Okay.
-—- a gray-top tube.

So what you do is you take out 40 samples,

Correct.

You program into your gas chromatograph -- for
GAR-1, which is Mr. Smith's blood, is in

one. Correct?

Is this a hypothetical?

No. It's what you would do. Correct?

Okay. Well, the gray-top tubes don't start

Okay.
-- 1in the sequence.

Well, we're going to make this simple.

Okay.
-- we're going to go with 1, if that's okay.

e e A e e
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Correct?
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Q
A.
Q

machine as to whose blood is in what location before

these headspace vials are even created. Correct?

A.
Q.
A.
40 cases
Q.
A.
point.
Q.

because your gas chromatograph, all right, it doesn't

test the

enforcement agency. Correct?

A.

Q.
into the

headspace vial. Correct?

Page 25
Okay. Absolutely.

All right. So GAR-1 is in location one.

Correct. As it's drawn, that's correct.
That's Smith's blood. Right?

As you label it, yes, sir.

Okay. GAR-2 is Jones' blood, right?

Now, here's my question. You program your

Not necessarily.

Okay.

Typically I would prepare a list of the

that I intend to test in that batch.

Okay.

I would then label the headspace vials at that

Okay. Now, this is why this is important
gray—-top tube that you get from a law
Not directly. That's correct.

What you do is you take a pipette and you go
gray-top tube and you transfer into the empty
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1 A. I do, yes, sir.

2 Q. And you do that 40 times. Correct?

3 A. It would be 80. Each of the gray-top tubes are
6 tested twice.

5 Q. I was getting to that.

6 A. Okay.

7 Q. You do it 40 and then you do it an additional

8 40. Correct?

2 A. Correct. The pipe heading on the blood would
10 occur at the same time.
11 Q. Okay. And then you have some controls, right?
L2 A. That's correct.
13 Q. All right. So the gas chromatograph, it has no

14 idea, anything about a gray-top tube. All it knows 1is
15 you programmed that in Slot 1 GAR is Smith's blood.

16 Correct?

L7 A. That's correct.

18 Q. All right. ©Now, after you do all this, the

19 headspace vials go into the gas chromatograph. Correct?
20 A. They do. That's correct.

21 Q. And the results come from the sample that are
= in the headspace vials. Correct?

23 A. Correct.

24 Q. All right. So, basically, your gas

25 chromatograph runs his thing and it says, location one,

T T e . SR R A
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1 Smith; the result is, let's just say, at 15. Correct?

2 A. Correct.

3 Q Okay. And does that on down, right?

. A. It does. §
5 0 All right. So here's my point. Let's talk 3
e about the steps where we have to trust your credibility §
g on this. |
& A. Okay.

9 Q. Number one, we have to trust that you put the

L0 right gray-top tube in the right order. Correct?

11 A. Correct.

L2 Q. Okay. TIs anybody there to check you to do

13 that?

14 A. There are not, not once the training is

15 complete.

Lo Q. All right. So, just for instance, if you were

17 to put GAR-1, which is Smith, in 4 instead of 1, and

18 let's say —-- Jones, Smith -- Williams in 1, you would
19 get a correct result in Slot 1, would you not?

20 A. For the Williams' blood, that's correct.

21 Q. Right. You would get an accurate result for

22 Williams' blood, right?

23 A. Correct.
2e Q. But the gas chromatograph is going to -- is
zs going to say Williams result to Smith. Correct?

—_—
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1 A. It would. And this is a hypothetical
2 situation?
3 Q. Um-hum.
4 A. It would, yes, sir.
S Q. Okay. So no one's there to check that you have
6 these in order, right?
7 A. Correct.
g Q. So we have to believe you and your credibility
2 that you keep them in order. Correct?
10 A. You would, yes, sir.
11 Q. It'd be very easy for a lab analyst like

12 yourself just to go, I'm going to put 1 in 4, 4 in 1, 2
13 in 5. It'd be very easy for you to do. Right?

14 A Again, this is hypothetical?

15 Q. Yes.

16 A It would be easy, yes, sir.

17 Q. Okay. Now, another thing: Let's say you had
18 them in order. There's another way that your

19 credibility comes in to play.

20 Let's say you take your pipette, which
21 looks 1like a pen with a little tube on it. Correct?
22 - A. Similar, yes, sir.

23 Q. Okay. So you basically dip into this blood and
24 you put it into the empty headspace vial. Correct?

25 A. Correct.
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1 Q. All right. Now, there's a protocol in order to
2 clean 1t between each one, right?
3 A. Well, the tips of the pipe head are disposable

4 and so between each gray-top tube the tip would be

> ejected.
6 Q. Why is that important?
7 A. Just so that there is no contamination between

€ the blood in the gray-top tubes.
9 Q. Right. Because let's say that Williams here

10 was highly intoxicated, .30, and if you took blood out

11 of his and put it in the headspace vial and you didn't
e change the pipette too and then you went to Jones and

13 then Jones, you would give Ms. Jones a false high

14 positive, would you not?

15 A. This is a hypothetical still?

LE Q. Yes.

L7 A. It's possible that alcohol may by detected from

18 the Williams blood.

£ Q. Okay.

20 A. That's correct.

21 Q. All right.

22 A. T don't know how —-- the amounts of that.

Z= Q. Well, when you're testing blood, you're testing
2 basically drops of blood. Correct?

29 A. Correct. It's several drops.
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1 Q. Okay. So it's a very small amount, right?
2 A. Well, compared to the whole —-- yes.
3 Q. Okay. So contamination could happen. Correct?
4 A. 1In the scenario that you have described, that's
9 correct.
6 Q. Okay. So we've got three situations so far
g where we have to rely on the credibility of you and your
8 lab: Number one, that when the blood kit comes in, it's
S not tampered with. Number two, you put them in the
10 right order. Correct? And then, number three, that you
e don't cross-contaminate blood. Correct?
12 A. Correct. Those are the three that you have
13 presented today so far.
14 Q. Okay. Let's talk about a couple of other

15 things. When you put blood into this empty headspace

16 vial, do you put anything else in it?

17 A. I would.

L Q. What's that?

19 A. 1Internal standard.

20 Q. Now, why i1s an internal standard important?

21 A. Just that the method that's being employed is

2 an internal standard method. The instrument would use

23 that internal standard in the calculation of the E
24 concentration of alcohol.

25 Q. So just so we're clear on the record, when —- i

TR B : = = e g = =mm z S = TR R
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L and I'm sorry, Mr. Youngkin. When --
2 Back to our original analysis, GAR-1,

& Smith, .15, your gas chromatograph doesn't actually

P

. print out a .15, does it?
3 A. Not to the many decimal places. It would have
6 more decimal places.
E Q. Okay. Well, doesn't it actually print out a
e graph?
. A. It does. There would be a number of things
10 contained on that printout.
11 Q. How does it know that this is a .15, the gas %
12 chromatograph? |
ie A. It calculates it based on the calibration of
Le the instrument and the response from that particular
L3 test.
16 Q. And the internal standard. Correct?
L A. Correct. And that's related to the response.
18 Q. So basically what you do, when you get a

&S result, is you get a graph that looks something like
20 this for Smith and then you get the internal standard.

21 Correct?
22 A. Well, it doesn't look anything like that.
23 Q. Well, is it two linear lines on a -- on a

e graph?

25 A. It would look more like an EKG, where it would
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1 have a baseline and then the peaks would go —--
2 Q. Okay.
3 A. ~-- up from the baseline.
4 Q. Well, let's do it that way.
5 A. Okay.
6 Q. More like an EKG. All right. Well, I'11l tell

7 you what. Why don't you just stand up and do it for me.

8 A. Are we still doing this result?
9 0 Um-hum. Yes, sir.
10 A (Complies.)
11 Q. Okay. Thank you, Mr. Youngkin.
12 A Sure.
&) 0 And if you don't mind putting your microphone
L2 back on.
15 A. (Complies.)
16 Q. Okay. So what you drew, peak number 1 here,

17 what is that?

22 Well, whoever the .15 was, yes, sir.

23

18 A. That would be the ethanol.
19 Q. Ethanol from who?
20 A. From --
1 Q. Jones?
A.
Q.

Okay. So that's the peak of the person. All
24 right. What is this (indicating)?

25 A. That's the internal standard.
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Q. I'm sorry.

Peak number 2 is the internal standard.
Correct?

A. Correct.

Q. Now, let me ask you this. Let's say your
internal standard is not correct. All right? And
instead of looking like peak 2, it looks more like this
peak right here (indicating). That's going to cause
this person to have a higher blood alcohol
concentration. Correct?

A. It would. There's an inverse relationship
between the internal standard amount and the calculated
alcohol result.

Q. And you realize this is nothing like plasma
testing that hospitals do. Correct?

A. Not to my understanding. But, again, I have
never performed that type of testing.

Q. Okay. So it would be very easy for you, i1f you
wanted to, to make a person have a higher blood alcohol
concentration just by manipulating the internal
standard. Correct?

A. Hypothetically?

Q. Yeah.

A. I guess so. 1've never considered it.

Q. Well, you guess so. The answer is yes.
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L Correct?
2 A. That it would be easy?
3 Q. Yes.
4 A. Sure. §
5 Q. Okay. And the only way that we know that's not %
9 done is the credibility of the analyst. Correct? ?
7 A. Correct.
8 Q. Okay. Now, you have ethanol alcohol in your i
g lab. Correct? |
10 A. We do.
11 Q. Okay. What are you testing for in Williams' or
12 Smith's blood?
13 A. We're testing for volatile substances of one of
L2 which ethanol is.
15 Q. Could you take ethanol alcohol and add some to
16 either a gray-top tube or a headspace vial?
1Ly A. Hypothetically?
18 Q. Yeah.
13 A. I could.
20 Q. And would that give someone a higher blood
21 alcohol concentration than what they really had?
22 A. It certainly would, yes, sir.
23 Q. And the only way that we know that you don't do
24 that is your credibility. Correct?
23 A. It is.
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1 Q. All right. So we've listed about ten things
2 that we have to trust your credibility as a lab analyst
3 in order to get an accurate result. Correct?
4 A. I don't know if we're up to ten, but you have
> listed a number.
8 Q. Quite a few, right? And you've listed at least
7 a handful --
8 MR. BURLESON: Am I going too fast?
S THE REPORTER: Go ahead.
10 Q. (BY MR. BURLESON) -- a handful of ways in which
11 a lab analyst, if he or she wanted, could give a person
12 a higher blood alcohol concentration. Correct?
13 A. You've mentioned two. That's correct.
i Q. Now, what motive would a DPS lab analyst have
15 in order to give someone a higher blood alcohol
16 concentration; do you know?
Y A. They would have no motive, that I'm aware of.
18 Q. Okay. Do you know what a DPS surcharge is?
= A. Related to a driver's license?
20 Q. Um-hum.
21 A. I'm aware of it.
22 Q. You work for the Department of Public Safety.
28 Correct?
24 A. I do.
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A

1 higher, they've got to pay $2,000 a year for three years

2 to the DPS? You realize that. Correct? %
3 A. I did not before -- I'm aware of the concept of §
4 surcharges, but as to the amount, I was not aware. i
5 Q. If it's under a .16, it's $1,000 a year for

6 three years. You're aware of that. Correct?

7 A. I am now.

e Q. Okay. All right, Mr. Youngkin. Let me trade

9 this back with you.
10 A. Okay.
11 Q. Actually, let me keep it because I'm going to

1.2 get back up.

13 MR. BURLESON: 1Is everybody good? Anybody
14 need breaks? Okay.
15 Q. (BY MR. BURLESON) All right, Mr. Youngkin. So

16 we talked about credibility. We talked about lab

17 errors. Now let's go to 2013.

18 In 2013, you switched gray-top tubes on two
19 individuals, did you not? f
20 A. They were found to be out of order. Me being §
21 the one doing the analysis, the implication is that I §
22 was responsible for that. |
23 Q. Okay. So let's go through the timing. You

2¢ began on the 6th day of May 2013. You retrieved 40

25 blood kits, like we talked about, and then you had to

[ e
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1 stop the proceedings because you had to go testify in
2 court. Correct?
& A. That's my memory. I don't have the document in
& front of me.
> Q. (BY MR. BURLESON) Okay. I'm handing you

6 what's been marked Defense Exhibit No. 20. And a copy

7 to Mr. Wirskye, that's going to be in the Court's

8 record.

9 Okay. If you'll look at the midsection
10 right here, sir (indicating).
11 A. Okay. Gotcha.
12 Q. All right. So, back up. 5/6, you started --

13 you had to go to court. 5/8, you had actually completed

14 the testing. Is that correct?

15 A. Correct. It says here the analysis resumed on
16 5/8.

17 Q. Okay. When did you send the results out?

18 A. The reports were released on May 16th, 2013.

19 Q. Okay. So here's the question I want to ask

20 you. You did a testing on May the 8th, and the reports

& went out on the 1lo6th, you said?

22 A. And that's what's indicated here on this
23 amended alcohol --

24 Q. Okay.

25 A. -- report. I have --
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1 Q. All right.

2 A. -- information with me that would answer that

3 question.

4 Q. So let's go back to this, if you'll turn

S around.

6 How long does it take to test a batch like
g this?

8 A. The complete time?

2 Q. Yes.

10 A. Potentially, 16 hours total.

&l Q. Okay. What happens to the headspace vials that
Lz are actually tested in the gas chromatograph after the
13 testing's over with?

14 A. They're autoclaved and probably disposed of.

15 Q. That's means they're destroyed, right?

L6 A. They are. They're thrown into the trash.

17 Q. All right. Within how many hours or days of

18 testing?

19 A. It depends on the circumstances. It could be
20 the following day. It could be several days.
21 Q. Okay. You finished testing on 5/8/13. You

22 sent the report on 5/16/13. So the headspace vials were
23 no longer in your lab. Correct?

24 A. Correct.

25 Q. Okay. DNow, the only thing that you had left in

e
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1 your lab were the gray-top tube, right?
2 A. Related to that test, that's correct.
3 Q. The only thing that you had.that you can retest
& would be the gray-top tubes. Correct?
5 A. Tt would be, yes, sir.
6 Q. Okay. So let's finish this up. 5/16, you send
7 out a report on GAR-568 and GAR-569. Correct?
8 A. We've omitted some numbers.
2 Q. Well, I'm just focusing on two and I'm focusing
L0 on the last three numbers.
11 A. You are. And the first three letters.
12 Q. Okay.
13 A. That's correct.
e Q. Would you agree with me that that's what you
= did?
16 A. You'll have to repeat the question. I'm sorry.
L Q. Okay. In court you typically testify to the
18 last three numbers in the sequence. Correct?
19 A. I would typically try to get the entire
20 laboratory case number in the record.
21 Q. Do you want to do the entire one or just the
22 last three?
23 A. It doesn't matter to me. I Jjust was trying to
24 clarify how you were referring to it.
25 Q. Okay. I'm going to refer to it as GAR and the
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1 last three. 1Is that fine?

2 A. Sure. Absolutely.

3 Q. Okay. So you tested GAR-568 and GAR-569,

4 right?

5 A. I did, yes, sir.

5 Q. Okay. And after your testing you sent out the
7 results. Where did those two results go?

8 A. I have the information with me to answer that

9 question. The reports were released electronically and
10 so they're sent to the persons' e-mail address that are
11 on that request in the information system.
12 Q. Okay. Well, one of them went to Cleburne,

13 Texas. Correct?

14 A. Johnson County. That's correct.
15 Q. Okay. And the other one went to Anna, Texas,

16 which is Collin County. Correct?

Y A. It is. And the report would indicate that the
18 offense was in Collin County.

19 Q. Okay. So let's go back here and let's do an
20 actual of what happened here. Do you know what location
2L GAR-568 or GAR-569 was in? I
22 A. The numerical location? §
23 Q. Yes. _

24 A. I did not bring that information with me today.
25 Q. You know they were next to each other.
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1 Correct?

2 A. They were. That's correct.

S Q. Okay. So we had GAR-568 and GAR-569. So

4 let's -- would you be okay with me using slots 2 and 3
5 for these two?

© A. Sure.

Y 0 Okay.

€ A. Again, this is a hypothetical?

9 Q No. I want to talk about what yoﬁ actually

10 did. I know you don't know the slot, but we know that

11 they were next to each other. Correct?
12 A. Okay. Correct.
13 Q. So when you got these, GAR-568 was supposed to

14 be in the slot right before GAR-569. Correct?

15 A. Correct. I would expect them to be in

16 numerical order.

&7 Q. Okay. So if we're assigning this to number 2
e and assigning this to number 3, your gas chromatograph
19 over here, when you programmed it, said slot number 2 is

20 GAR-568 and slot number 3 i1s GAR-569. Correct?

21 A. Correct.

22 Q. Okay. When you sent the result, you got a
89 phone call from Anna Police Department, did you not?
24 A. I did.

25 Q. Okay. That was on 5/16. Correct?
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1 A. It is. %
2 Q. Okay. What did they tell you? %
S A. They had indicated that the results on the §
& report did not correspond to the circumstances of that
5 evidence.
6 Q. Okay. Well, you know what happened was an Anna
E PD employee got into an accident in an Anna city
8 vehicle. Correct?
9 A. It was my understanding it was a city employee
10 in a fleet accident situation.
il Q. So, as a matter of the course, when an employee
12 gets in an accident in a fleet vehicle, they run -- or
13 they send it to you for alcohol testing and then on to
14 Garland for drug testing. Correct?
149 A. They did submit it to our laboratory for
16 alcohol testing. We then forward it to our Austin
Y laboratory --
18 Q. Okay.
12 A. —-- for the drug testing.
20 Q. So I'm going to ask you this. GAR-568, what
23 was the correct blood alcohol score for GAR-5687?
22 A. That it contains no alcohol.
23 Q. Okay. What did you report that it contained?
2 A. 0.152 grams of alcohol per 100 milliliters of
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1 Q. Okay. So let me get this right. You test
2 blood. You send out the results on May 1l6th. You send
3 it out to Anna and you said that their public employee
4 had a .152. They immediately call you and said, There
> must be a mistake because there's no alcohol. Were you

6 aware that that guy died?

7 A. T was not.

E Q. So they call you and said the results are

9 wrong. Now, on that same day did you notice that the
10 results were wrong?
11 A. I did not. I noticed that the gray-top tubes
iz were out of numerical order on that same day.
13 Q. Okay. Now, between 5/8 and 5/16, how many

14 other batches of blood did you conduct or did you test

15 on? .

16 A I don't have that information with me today.

17 Q. Okay.

& A I would have to look.

19 Q. How are you in a position to notice two

20 gray-top tubes out of order the same time you get a

21 phone call from Anna PD saying that you gave a .15 on a
22 dead man, who had no alcohol in his system?

23 A. The same event triggered those two other events
24 and that was a release of the reports. We generally

25 walt for the reports to be released to then replace the
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1 gray-top tubes back into the kits, and that's when Anna
2 had the results on that report and that's why they

S called me.

4 Q. Okay. So, basically, what you did is you

5 switched these gray-top tubes, so you say. Correct?
S A. Correct.

7 Q. And what you did is you put GAR-569 -- I'm

L sorry. You put GAR-569 in slot 2. Correct?

= A. According to the diagram, that's correct.
L0 Q. And GAR-568 in slot 3. Correct?
11 A. Correct.
L2 Q. Okay. Did you switch wvials that day?
13 A. Depending on what you mean specifically by the
14 word "vial." The Quality Action Plan and my testimony
15 has been clear that it involves gray-top tubes and not
16 the headspace vials.
Y Q. My question is, under oath, did you switch
18 vials?
19 A. It depends, again, on what you mean
20 specifically by the word "vial." If you're referring to
21 the headspace vial, the answer is no. If you're using
L2 the word "vial" to refer to a gray-top tube, the answer
23 would be yes.
24 Q. Have you ever testified that you switched vials

29 in 201372
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1 A. 1It's certainly possible, given that the word
2 "vial" or "vials" is often used to refer to gray-top
3 tubes.

4 Q. And if you had testified that you switched

e vials in 2013, would that be truthful testimony or a

6 false testimony?
7 A. It would be truthful if it -- the question was
e in reference to the gray-top tubes.
9 Q. Okay. Did you switch samples in 201372
10 A. I did.
Ll Q. And you knew that on May lé6th of 2013.
L2 Correct?
= A. The indication was that it was true on

14 May 1lé6th, given that I had noticed the tubes being out

15 of order and the phone call from Anna Police Department.
le That wasn't confirmed until later on, once the

17 reanalysis was completed.

18 Q. Mr. Youngkin, did you switch samples on

19 May 16th, 20132

ze A. It would not have been on the 16th -—-

21 Q. Did you know you switched samples on the 1lo6th?
22 A. It was suspected in that those two things

23 occurred.

2 Q. So you knew that from May 16, 2013 -- all of

25 2013. Correct?
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1 A. Correct.

2 Q. You knew it all of 2014. Correct?

3 A. I did.

. Q. All of 20152

o A. Yes, sir.

6 Q. And all of 20167

7 A. To this point in time, yes, sir.

8 Q. So 1f you were asked under oath anytime after

2 May 20th or May 16th, 2013, have you ever switched

10 samples, what would the only truthful answer be?

11 A. The gquestion was samples?

1.2 Q. Yes.

13 A. Yes, that I did.

14 Q. That would be the only truthful answer.

15 Correct?

L6 A. Correct.

17 Q. Okay.

18 A. As long as the word "sample" was used in the
19 context of gray-top tubes.

20 Q. And you switched gray-top tubes and you knew

21 you switched gray-top tubes May 16th, 2013. Correct?

22 A. Correct. There, again, they were found out of
23 order on that date. It wasn't concluded until the

24 reanalysis was performed.

25 Q. Okay. And you knew you switched gray-top tubes
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1 the rest of 2013. Correct?

2 A. I did.

3 Q. The rest of 2014. Correct?

4 A. Yes, sir.

> Q. 2015. Correct?

6 A. Correct.

g Q. And 2016. Correct?

8 A. Correct.

2 Q. So if you're asked under oath, have you ever
10 switched gray-top tubes before, what would your only
1 truthful answer be?

12 A. Yes.

13 Q. Okay. Have you ever referred to a gray-top

L2 tube as a vial?

15 A. Again, not that I can recall, as far as me
16 offering that information. Again, I've answered many
L7 questions about wvials in reference to gray-top tubes.

18 Q. Have you ever testified under oath that‘you've
12 never switched vials?
20 A. Yes, I have.
21 Q. Okay. Is that truthful?
2 A. It is as long as we're speaking specifically
23 about headspace vials.
e Q. Okay. Now, when DPS got this, they assigned an
25 investigator to determine what happened. Correct?
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1 A. Once I noticed the gray-top tubes were out of
2 order, I notified management and then they put into
3 place the quality action process.
4 Q. Okay. That wasn't my question. My question
5 was, they assigned an investigator. Did they assign an
6 investigator?
g A. At some point in that process this document was
8 completed, where on two of the sections I am identified
9 as the investigator.
10 Q. All right. For the third time: Did they
&L assign an investigator, DPS; yes or no-?
12 A. I don't know that the word "assign” was used.
13 I am identified on the Quality Action Plan as the
14 investigator.
15 Q. So you investigated this incident. Correct?
16 A. I completed the Quality Action Plan as I was
17 asked to. |
18 Q. Okay. You signed it two places on Defense
19 Exhibit No. 20 as the investigator, did you not?
20 | A. That title or role does appear next to my name
21 in two places. That's correct.
2 Q. Did you sign next to it twice on that document
23 that says you were the investigator?
24 A. I signed --
25 Q. Yes or no?
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L A. -- again, next to my name in multiple

Z locations.

S Q. Mr. Youngkin, on-Defense 20 it says

. "Investigator." It says "Chris Youngkin,"™ and it's got
S a signature. Is that your signature?

6 A. It is.

7 Q. Right underneath it it says "Investigator." It
e says "Chris Youngkin," and it has a signature. Is that
3 your signature?
10 A. It is.
o Q. So you investigated your own switch of gray-top
12 tubes or samples. Correct?
13 A. I completed this form, as T was instructed to,
14 and I was identified as the investigator on this form.
15 Q. And what did the investigator determine about
16 this event?
&g A. There's two different sections there and

LE there's one, two, three, four paragraphs.

19 Q. Okay.
20 A. Would you like me to read it all?
21 Q. In the incident description does the
&2 investigator says that it was an isolated event?
23 A. The incident description does not contain an
24 investigator.

25 Q. Was it determined to be an isolated event?
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A. It was identified as a level of concern to
isolated incident.

Q. Okay. All right. So it was determined that
this was an isolated event. Is that correct?

A. An isolated incident. That's correct.

Q. Okay. Now, we've talked before. What does an
isolated event mean to you?

A. That it only happened once or a few times.

Q. And what does it mean to you if something has
happened more than a few times?

A. That is not isolated.

Q. Okay. It could be ongoing. Correct?

A. Correct.

Q. Could be systematic. Correct?

A. Depending on how the system is defined, that's
correct.

Q. Now, how do you know if something is isolated
or 1f it was ongoing? How would you know that?

A. Dependent on the number of times it was
observed.

Q. Okay. Well, let's take this instant, Quality
Action Plan 823, which is Defense Exhibit No. 20.

MR. BURLESON: We're offering that into
evidence. Any objection by the State?
MR. WIRSKYE: No objection.

g
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1 MR. BURLESON: Okay.

2 (Exhibit 20 premarked and offered.)

3 Q. (BY MR. BURLESON) In order to determine

4 whether or not this was an isolated or ongoing event,

> three things could have happen. Number one, you could

6 have went back and retested your prior gray-top tubes

7 that are still in the lab to determine if there's any

e other mistakes. 1Is that correct?

9 A. That is correct. A number of other tubes were
10 retested.

L Q. Did you do that?
12 A. It was performed by another analyst.

L Q. Okay. So did you go back and retest any prior
14 batches that you had tested; yes or no?
15 A. I did not.
Lo Q. Okay. The other thing is an investigator could
L7 be assigned, an impartial investigator, to go back in
18 and retest your work. Did that investigator go back and
19 retest your work?
20 A. Again, several other gray-top tubes were
21 retested by another analyst.
e Q. Okay. That's not my question. Did the
23 investigator go back and retest your work? The answer's
24 no because you were the investigator. Correct?
23 A. Correct. If you're referring to the

Eemem——y
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1 investigator on this form, that's correct.
2 Q. Okay. All right. And then a third party could
3 come in and test your work. Did that happen-?
4 A. Well, if you consider another one of the

5 analysts at DPS crime lab a third party, yes, that is
6 correct.
7 Q. Okay. Now, I want to be very clear on this

8 Quality Action Plan. This was completed on 5/20/13.

2 Correct?
10 A. Correct. That's the date that appears.
11 Q. Okay. And you told me that the headspace vials
12 were destroyed then. Correct?
13 A. They would most likely have been, yes, sir.
e Q. No, no. You said they were destroyed. Were

15 they destroyed or were they not destroyed?

16 A. Well, I have no independent recollection of

17 that, but based on the dates contained within this

18 document, my expectation would be that they were.

19 Q. So you had an object that contained blood that
20 you could retest. Correct?

2 A. Correct. And the gray-top tubes were retested.
22 Q. So you're saying you had gray-top tubes to be
23 retested. Correct?

24 A. Correct. And there were a number of them

25 related to the case numbers that you mentioned, as well

[
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as a number of others.

Q. I want you to look where it says "Action Plan."
Is that your signature down there?

A. It is.

Q. The second sentence, "The evidence for the

cases in the first quarter of the batch (vials 7 through
16) run on 5/8/13 still present at the laboratory will
be retested...”

What did you just call a gray-top tube?

A. There's no mention of gray-top tubes in that
sentence.

Q. I know there's not. But what you just told me
was that the only thing at the lab that you had to
retest was a gray-top tube -- was a gray-top tube.
Correct?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. So if that was the only thing you had at
the laboratory to retest that had blood in it, what did
you jusf call it?

A. And, again, there's no mention of gray-top
tubes in that sentence.

Q. When you say "vials 7 through 16 still present
at the laboratory," what are you referring to,

Mr. Youngkin?

A. That's identifying the position 7 through 16 of
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the batch.

Q. When you say "vials," what are you referring
to?

A. That would be the headspace vials in those
positions.

Q. Okay. You just told me they were destroyed and
there weren't there, available for you to be retested,
did you not?

A. I did.

Q. Okay, Mr. Youngkin. $So you're saying -- well,
let me ask you this. What would you retest? What was
available for retesting?

A. The gray-top tubes.

Q. Okay. So when you said "the first quarter of
the batch (vials 7 through 16) run on 5/8/13 still
present at the laboratory will be retested," you're
saying you're not talking about gray-top tubes?

A. No. If you look at the construction of the
sentence, it says "the evidence" and then you would skip
down to the verb "still present at the laboratory."

Q. "The evidence" -- I'm trying to follow you.

A. The first part of the sentence.

Q. "The evidence for the cases in the first
quarter batch still present in the laboratory." You

just told me the only thing that was still present were
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1 the gray-top tubes. 1Is that correct?
% A. Correct. And so this sentence is indicating
3 that the evidence, the gray-top tubes contained in the

4 kits for the first quarter, that's location 7 through
3 1o, that are still present will be retested.

6 Q. Okay. So the word "vial" there, is that just a
Y typo on your part?
8 A. That's not a typo. It's in reference to the
9 numbered locations of the batch.
10 Q. Okay. All right. So vial doesn't mean vial;
11 it means locations. Is that correct?
12 A. In this particular instance, it's identifying

13 which part of the batch is the first quarter.
e Q. So your testimony here, under oath, is you've
L9 never used —-- or you did not use the word "vial" on

16 Exhibit No. 20 to describe a gray-top tube?

17 A. Correct. Because I've testified several times
18 already those were no longer present to be retested.
19 Q. All right. Okay. Now, let me ask you about

20 Quality Action Plan 823, Exhibit No. 20. I want you to

21 look at the bottom where it says "Action Plan."

22 It says, On 5/12 -- I'm sorry —- "5/21/12,
23 the affected agencies and county attorneys were notified
24 of the new results." 5/21/12 is obviously a typo.

25 Correct?
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1 A. It is.

2 Q. What was it supposed to say?

3 A. 5/21/13 would be the correct year.

& Q. Okay. Who were the affected agencies?

5 A. It would have been Anna Police Department and
5 the highway patrol -- highway patrol in Cleburne.

g Q. Okay. Who were the county attorneys?

8 A. That would have been Johnson County and that

9 the evidence from Anna Police Department didn't

10 constitute a criminal offense. They may have still

L received the report, though. I have the information
12 with me.

13 Q. So are you saying you did or did not send that
14 to Collin County?

15 A. I'm saying it's certainly possible. I don't

G know that that would have been anything that I had to do

17 with, since I was not involved in the retest of the
18 evidence.

19 Q. Okay. I'm going to ask you one more time:
20 Have you ever used the word "vial" to describe a

21 gray-top tube?

22 A. Again, it would depend on the context. I don't
23 recall having used that in my testimony, but if I was

24 answering a question where the word "vial" was used in
25 reference to a gray-top tube, it's certainly possible.
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1 Q. Isn't a gray-top tube the same thing as a vial?
2 A. It depends on who you ask.

3 Q. Okay.

4 A. To me, it's not, and I've brought them with me

> today —--—

6 Q. Okay.

7 A. —-- to demonstrate that.

8 Q. Who is Nirav Kumar?

2 A. He's another analyst in our laboratory.

10 (Exhibit 9 premarked and offered.)
11 MR. BURLESON: I'm offering Defense Exhibit
12 No. 9.

13 THE WITNESS: Would it be possible for us
i to take a break between exhibits?

15 MR. BURLESON: Not between exhibits, but do
16 you need a break?

17 THE WITNESS: I would certainly appreciate
18 one.

19 MR. BURLESON: Sure.
20 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Off the record,
21 10:04 a.m.

22 (Off the record: 10:04 to 10:11 a.m.)

23 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Back on record,
24 10:11 a.m.

25 Q. (BY MR. BURLESON) Okay. So, Mr. Youngkin,
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1 let's get back to it. You will admit switching samples
2 in 2013. Correct?
3 A. I will.
4 Q. You will admit switching gray-top tubes in
5 2013. Correct?
6 A. T will.
7 Q. And you would testify, under oath, if you were
8 asked, that you had switched either a sample or a
9 gray—-top tube. Correct?
10 A. I would, yes, sir.
11 Q. You are saying that you did not switch a vial
12 in 20137
13 A. Not a headspace vial, if that's what you mean
14 specifically.
15 Q. No. I mean vial. Did you switch a vial?
16 A. It depends on what you mean by the use of the
17 word "vial," if --
18 Q. Well, let's --
19 A. =-- 1it's not clear from the record.
20 Q. Let's see what your coworker thinks a vial is.
21 Who is Nirav Kumar?
22 A. He's another one of the analysts in the Garland
23 laboratory.
24 MR. BURLESON: Offering Defense Exhibit
25 No. 9. Do you have that, Mr. Wirskye?
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1 MR. WIRSKYE: I do and no objection.

2 MR. BURLESON: Okay.

3 Q. (BY MR. BURLESON) Nirav Kumar testified in

< Court 2, and I'm going to show you. If you'll turn to
5 Page 4, here's my question.

6 "Question: For your purpose and for the
7 DPS blood kit, how many vials of blood are in there?"

8 "Answer: For the DPS kit, there would be

9 need to be two. Both blood tubes would need to be
10 filled up."”

11 "Question: Tubes or vials; is that

12 correct?"

13 "Answer: Correct."”

14 "Question: Tubes and vials mean the same

15 thing; right?"

16 Kumar's answer is "Yes."

17 "Question: You used the word the 'vial' in
18 describing that -- vials you had before; correct?"”

19 "Correct."

20 So Mr. Kumar goes on to say, on Page 5,

21 Line 14: "The word tube and vial can be used

22 interchangeably when describing cylindrical objects that

23 contain liquid."

24 So Mr. Kumar, who has the same job as you?

23 Correct?
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1 A. Generally. That's correct.

2 Q. Okay. Well, you say "generally." He tests

3 blood for DPS. Right? ’

4 A. That is one of his responsibilities. That's

5 correct.

6 Q. He testifies in court. Correct?

7 A. He does.

8 Q. So Mr. Kumar is saying a vial is the same thing |
9 as a tube or gray-top tube. Is that correct? |
10 A. He did answer those questions. That's correct.
11 Q. Ndw, Page 7 -- or Page 5, Line 25, on to Page

e 6: "Has anyone at your laboratory ever mixed up vials?"
13 His answer: "Yes, it's happened before."
14 "Question: Okay. Who was that?

15 "Answer: That was Chris Youngkin."

16 Who are you?

17 A. Chris Youngkin.

18 Q. Okay.

19 "Question: Okay. So you knew he mixed up
20 vials; right?"
21 His answer was, "He did. But that's before
22 I started working here." [As read.]
23 So your coworker, Nirav Kumar, not only
26 calls gray-top tubes vials but he said you switched

25 vials in <ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>